

Employers' prescription for Employee Protection Toolkit:

Best Practices for Prescription Drug Benefit Design *The Employers' Prescription for Employee Protection Toolkit: Best Practices for Prescription Drug Benefit Design* would not have been possible without the support and input of many organizations and individuals.

CancerCare Project Directors:

Carole Florman Ellen Miller-Sonet

Advisory Board

Susan Hensley, *Pfizer* Jared Lewis, *Curtiss-Wright Corporation; Board of Directors, Northeast Business Group on Health* Len Lichtenfeld, *MD, MACP, CancerCare Board of Trustees* Joanna Morales, *JD, Triage Cancer* Jonathan Parker Wayne Sichel, *RPh, JD, Precision Value & Health; CancerCare Board of Trustees* Lynn Zonakis

Thank you for sharing your stories: Rita Anderson, Heidi Barrett, Chris and Michelle Bushell, Tony Coelho, Patricia Goldsmith, Jen Hepworth, Justin Williams, Amy W.

Thank you for sharing your wisdom: Christie Beausoleil, Eastern CT Hematology & Oncology; Jalpa A. Doshi, PhD, University of Pennsylvania; Stephanie Hengst, The AIDS Institute; Anna Hyde, Arthritis Foundation; Dorothy Leone-Glasser, Advocates for Responsible Care (ARxC); Mark Peters, PharmD; Candice Sherman, Northeast Business Group on Health; Sara van Geertruyden, Partnership to Improve Patient Care (PIPC); Kimberly Westrich, National Pharmaceutical Council; Stacey Worthy, Aimed Alliance.

Thank you for sharing your talent: Bailey Bosworth, Andreanna Ditton, Loriana Hernandez-Aldama, Joseph Lecz, Portia Marchman, Chris Martin, Lever.Media; Lindsay Huck, Huckster Design; John Onorato, David Parsons, Libby Pokel-Hung, Lisa Taylor.

The project was made possible with the generous support of Bristol Myers Squibb, Eli Lilly & Company, Janssen, Merck, Pfizer, Takeda.



About CancerCare

Cancer*Care* is the leading national organization providing free, professional support services and information to help people manage the emotional, practical and financial challenges of cancer.

Since its founding in 1944, Cancer*Care* has provided resources for millions of people living with cancer, post-treatment survivors, caregivers and loved ones, including over \$284 million in financial assistance. Cancer*Care*'s network of support is anchored by world-leading cancer experts and master's-prepared oncology social workers. The organization's programs have expanded to provide case management, individual counseling, support groups, financial assistance, educational workshops, publications and online tools to find practical and financial resources.

In fiscal year 2020, Cancer*Care* delivered 209,454 services to people affected by cancer, spanning all 50 states, and provided \$48.7 million in financial assistance to 29,004 people for costs including transportation and practical needs.





E ach year since its founding in 1944, CancerCare's oncology social workers and financial navigators have spoken with thousands of people facing a cancer diagnosis. In the past few years, we have increasingly heard of the challenges our clients face in accessing their prescribed treatments because of their insurance plan restrictions.

We have created this guide, *The Employer Toolkit*, to address the impact of the roadblocks that are preventing patients from accessing the medications they so desperately need. Approximately 50% of Americans receive healthcare through their jobs, and those benefits are among the most important that an employer can offer its valued employees.

Many cost-saving measures seem benign but can cause great harm, particularly to those with cancer and other serious or chronic health conditions. In your efforts to control healthcare costs, it is important to ensure that the strategies you consider do not adversely impact your employees' wellbeing. Looking at healthcare benefits holistically, however, helps to demonstrate how some cost-saving measures can actually increase overall healthcare costs and absenteeism, while also reducing productivity and causing other adverse consequences.

This Toolkit is designed to help explain the unintended consequences of increasingly common prescription drug cost control measures and offer recommendations on how to structure prescription drug benefits to protect your employees who need access to these medications. Several of our recommendations have become law in many states, which we believe supports the case for these measures. We approached this project from our perspective as a cancer organization, but the issues we highlight in this Toolkit apply to anyone facing a serious illness or dealing with a chronic condition.

We hope you will listen to the patients' experiences featured in the Toolkit videos and help others – namely, your employees and their beneficiaries – avoid these or similar life-defining experiences, when facing a serious health problem.

Thank you.

Sincerely,

Jobsmith

Patricia J. Goldsmith Chief Executive Officer

Table of Contents

<u>SECTION 1</u>	
Introduction	1
An Overview of Utilization Management (UM) What's Included in the Toolkit	
The Role of Pharmacy Benefit Managers (PBMs)	
Innovations in Cancer Care vs. UM	
Working With Benefits Consultants	
What Employers May Not Know	
The Costs of UM to Employers	
Absenteeism & low productivity Job satisfaction & talent retention	
Common UM Practices & Consequences	9
Pre-authorization	
Formulary Design	
Step Therapy Specialty Pharmacies	
Copay Accumulator Programs	
The Appeals Process	
Financial Non-adherence	
Illustrated Explainers: Common UM Practices & Consequences	
Pre-authorization	
Pre-authorization & prescription drugs	
Costs of pre-authorizations	
What does pre-authorization accomplish? Case study: Pre-authorization, Amy W	
Pre-authorization fact sheet infographic.	
Formulary Design	
How do formularies work?	
How are formulary tiers set?	
The role of rebates	
Generics, biosimilars & competitive pricing	
Mid-year formulary changes & non-medical switching	
Case study: Non-medical switching, Patricia Goldsmith Formulary design & non-medical switching fact sheet infographic	
Formulary design & value assessments	
ICER & concerns regarding value assessments	
QALYs (Quality-Adjusted Life Year)	
Case study: QALY-based value assessments, Chris & Michelle Bushell	
QALY-based value assessments infographic	
Step Therapy	
What is step therapy?	
Concerns regarding step therapy	
The true cost of "saving" money	
Case study: Step therapy, Justin Williams Step therapy fact sheet infographic	
Case study: Step therapy, Heidi Barrett	
ouse study. Step therapy, neur Danett	

Specialty Pharmacies	
What are specialty pharmacies?	
Why do insurers use specialty pharmacies?	
Concerns about specialty pharmacies	
Specialty pharmacies fact sheet infographic	
Copay Accumulator Programs	
What are copay accumulator programs?	
Concerns about copay accumulators	
Meet the copay maximizer	
Are copay accumulators legal?	
Case study: Copay accumulators, Jen & Penny Hepworth	
Copay accumulator fact sheet infographic	
The Appeals Process	
When insurers deny coverage	
Why are claims denied?	
What it takes to appeal: the added cost of time & stress	
Appeals process fact sheet infographic	
Financial Non-Adherence	
Making out-of-pocket costs more manageable	
Addressing High Deductible Health Plans	
Case study: Financial non-adherence, Rita Anderson	
Financial non-adherence fact sheet infographic	
<u>SECTION 2</u>	
Key Take-Aways for Benefit Design	
Pharmacy Benefit Plan Recommendations	
Formulary Design	
Pre-authorization	
Appeals Process	
Step Therapy	
Specialty Pharmacy Programs	
Cost Sharing	
High Deductible Health Plans (HDHPs)	
Request for Proposal (RFP) Questions to Ask	
Formulary Design	
Pre-authorization	
Appeals	
Step Therapy	
Specialty Pharmacy Programs	
Cost Sharing	
HDHPs	
Glossary of Terms	
Works Cited	

Introduction

How can employers provide health insurance that is both high quality and cost effective?

That is the million dollar question—or, rather the \$1.2 trillion dollar question.

That's how much was spent on private health insurance in the U.S. in 2019, covered in large part by employers.¹ Navigating the health insurance industry is complex. Corporate benefits managers are charged with evaluating a myriad of packages— with differing levels of coverage and a variety of cost structures— and choosing options that will provide their employees with adequate healthcare coverage while being cost-effective for their company.

It's a daunting task.

Insurance companies and benefits consultants often recommend cost-saving strategies that control patients' access to healthcare services—practices known as utilization management (UM).

Utilization management can appear to be an attractive element of a health plan—particularly since insurance companies claim it not only saves money, it results in better patient care, too. Unfortunately, employers with the best of intentions choose packages that include UM, unaware that it can negatively impact outcomes for employees facing cancer and other serious illnesses.

At least 40% of Americans will develop cancer in their lifetime,² with an estimated two million new cases diagnosed each year.³ As the cost to treat cancer continues to rise, so does UM as a way to monitor access to treatment and contain spending.

The Employers' Prescription for Employee Protection Toolkit: Best Practices for Prescription Drug Benefit Design is a comprehensive guide to help benefits managers, human resources professionals and executives better understand the unintended consequences of UM, so they can ask the right questions about these practices, make informed purchasing decisions and design prescription drug benefit packages that provide valued employees with the best possible care in the most cost-effective way when they need it most.

Ideally, the goal of employer-provided health coverage is to get an employee swift and effective treatment, to resolve symptoms and prevent poor outcomes. From a business standpoint, "swift and effective treatment" is likely to mean less time away from the job and a timely return to productive work. This often is not possible, however, when a restrictive drug plan prevents access to medications that support a higher quality of life or causes employees to struggle under the financial burden of high out-of-pocket costs.⁴

An Overview of Utilization Management (UM)

tilization management (UM) is an umbrella term for costcontainment techniques used to determine whether healthcare services are medically necessary and appropriate for patients-and ultimately, whether they should be covered by health insurance. UM sets the rules by which insurers restrict or deny coverage for care. At its best, UM helps to weed out unproven treatments, evaluate physicians' treatment recommendations and reduce costs while still delivering quality care. At its worst, UM creates administrative snarls, delays, stress and costly out-of-pocket expenses for patients, and interferes with patient/physician decisions regarding the best personal course of treatment.^{5,6} Common UM practices are not only significant obstacles to time-sensitive, precise cancer care. They also put a tremendous burden on patients that can lead to worse outcomes, debilitating suffering, higher medical expenses, extreme financial pressures, relationship difficulties, lower productivity at work, increased absences and compromised presenteeism.





Scan the QR code to watch a video introduction to utilization management. Also available at *BetterRxBenefits.org*

What's Included in the Toolkit

- » Section 1 (pages 1-45) of the booklet provides an introduction to UM and looks at how UM policies intersect with benefit design decisions that impact employers and employees alike. Alongside current research, you'll find expert perspectives from HR executives, doctors and benefits consultants.
- » The booklet's illustrated explainers (pages 11-45) provide a closer look at seven common UM practices and their consequences. Several are paired with Case Studies shared by patients who have experienced, firsthand, the negative consequences of UM practices.
- » UM practices, consequences and patient case studies are also featured in the Video Series. Each video focuses on a specific UM topic and is designed to take these concepts and simplify them visually. View them at *BetterRxBenefits.org*.
- » Section 2 (page 46-58) of the booklet brings together resources for working with benefits consultants and insurers to create a strong prescription coverage plan. It includes best practice recommendations to guide plan design and questions that will help employers evaluate health plan options and UM policies.
- » Key terms marked in bold throughout the booklet can be found in the Glossary (pages 59-61).

The Role of Pharmacy Benefit Managers (PBMs)



Insurers often contract with **pharmacy benefit managers (PBMs)** to design prescription drug plans. OptumRx/United Healthcare, Express Scripts/Cigna and CVS Caremark are three of the largest PBMs in the United States. Collectively, these three PBMs processed 85% of all prescription claims in 2020.

P^{BMs} control patients' access to medications across multiple channels. The process is complex (illustrated below) and can vary by drug, manufacturer, wholesaler, pharmacy and insurance policy design. They apply various utilization management practices to control access in order to manage costs.

Formulary Design: PBMs decide which drugs will be included (or excluded) from a health plan's coverage through a list called a **formulary**. They use pricing tiers and UM tools to steer patients and prescribing doctors toward preferred drugs. **Price Negotiations:** PBMs negotiate with drug manufacturers, exchanging a preferred spot on a formulary for cash-back **rebates** on a drug's list price. PBM pricing practices are being scrutinized at the federal level, due to concerns that the rebate system may inflate higher-tier drug prices and questions as to whether patients or employers see any of the PBMs' cost savings.

Pharmacy Management: PBMs manage relationships with pharmacies to further coordinate patients' access to treatments and control what patients pay out of pocket.



Wayne Sichel, RPh, JD, former Head of U.S. Policy at Bristol Myer Squibb and consultant at Precision Value & Health, explains the pros and cons of working with PBMs. "It can cut both ways. They can facilitate access to treatment, making it much more realistic for patients to receive therapy and improved care, increasing the chances for better outcomes." For cancer patients, this can mean handling logistics of the drug administration process, such as ensuring that chemotherapy drugs are waiting for the patient at an infusion center or arranging for a nurse practitioner to administer medications in a home setting. They might offer patients the convenience of multi-month refills and home delivery for medications.

Serious problems arise, however, when a PBM's use of UM practices jeopardizes a patient's access to timely, targeted care. "Timing is critical," Sichel emphasizes, particularly in regard to cancer care. "Who knows best about what's necessary and appropriate for the patient? Is it the PBM? No. The clinician knows the patient's situation and needs. That's the connection that should take priority, and PBMs should not interfere. That said, every situation should be evaluated on its own merits since PBMs can help achieve optimal results as well, with the right focus."

In a 2018 survey by the American Society of Clinical Oncologists,

- → 93% of physicians had encountered restrictive UM practices from PBMs when prescribing treatment, including pre-authorization delays and coverage denials for medically necessary drugs.
- → 62% reported that PBMs contacted their patients about prescriptions without first notifying the clinical team.

In some cases, PBMs substituted medications or altered the dosage prescribed without the physician's approval; others reported that PBMs restricted or changed patients' access to drugs mid-treatment.⁷

Importantly, drugs for complex illnesses like cancer may not be interchangeable; changes in prescriptions can make treatment less effective or even increase the risk of serious side effects. The American Medical Association calls these PBM practices an "erosion of physician-led medication therapy management."⁸

Oral chemotherapy drugs play a central role in contemporary cancer care; these and other cancer drugs typically occupy the highest, most expensive and restricted tier in formularies. To access them, PBMs require patients to cover higher **copayments** (a flat fee to fill a prescription) or pay a higher percentage of the cost of the drug (**coinsurance**). Most states have already passed oral parity laws and a federal measure is currently under consideration. This means that by law, an insurer must cover an oral chemotherapeutic in the same way they would cover an infused medication.

Restrictive drug plans can lead to **financial non-adherence**, which is when patients don't take medication as prescribed due to cost. For example, they may skip refills or take a partial dose to stretch a prescription. Research has found that higher **out-of-pocket costs** are associated with higher rates of non-adherence.⁹ In one study, nearly 50% of cancer patients in the highest out-of-pocket cost category abandoned their prescriptions, compared to 10% in the lowest out-of-pocket category.¹⁰ High out-of-pocket costs cause patients to delay treatment, which can lead to costly complications that include more doctor visits and emergency care, higher hospitalization rates, longer hospital stays, disease progression or relapse, and increased death rates.^{11, 12, 13}

Sichel lays out the issue this way: "The problem is that PBMs focus only on drug costs. But employers want their plans to deliver value with optimal care, which actually allows them to save money since patients get better and don't need more care. More care is expensive. However, when the focus is on access, PBMs can be helpful to both patients and employers."

Innovations in Care vs. Utilization Management

E xperts believe **personalized medicine**—treatment informed by and tailored to a patient's unique genetics and circumstances—is the future not only of cancer care, but all healthcare. Through appropriate testing, a patient's own genome (all their genetic material) can help identify risks, detect and monitor illness, and determine what course of treatment will provide the best outcomes.

The last decade brought significant breakthroughs in cancer care. New targeted therapies help match the unique genetics of a patient's cancer cells with the right drug—one that will zero in on the cancer and leave healthy cells untouched. New immunotherapies train the immune system to better recognize and battle cancer cells, including **biologics** and "living drugs" created from a patient's cells. Innovative treatments are

often pricey, challenging cost-focused UM policies. Some cancer drugs now carry an annual price tag of \$100,000 to \$300,000+. Treating cancer costs four times more than other major health challenges, such as stroke, heart attack or diabetes.¹⁴ Yet, these novel therapies can offer life-saving benefits where none have existed in the past.

"In recent years, drug discoveries have turned fatal cancers into chronic diseases, giving people longer and better lives," says Patricia J. Goldsmith, Chief Executive Officer of Cancer*Care*. "It's clear the next generation of game-changing cancer care will come from the pharmaceutical industry. And yet, we're seeing insurers use more and more tactics to restrict access to medications and shrink what they'll pay for

drugs. They're looking only at cost per dose and not the consequences for patients."

Many new cancer drugs not only increase survival rates; they can also greatly improve quality of life during treatment—an important value to patients and employers. Dr. Jalpa Doshi, Professor of Medicine at the University of Pennsylvania, describes this transformation in care. "Now, a patient can take a pill at home instead of enduring six-hour infusions that leave

them nauseous and weak, traveling back and forth to a clinic setting that may expose them to other illnesses. The side effects and toxicities of newer treatments also are much lower, which can allow patients to keep working." When insurers and PBMs focus solely on medication cost and tightly restrict access to these new cancer treatments, they miss what health economists call the "societal perspective," referring to those factors that are life enhancing to patients and their families, employers and communities.

When insurers and PBMs focus solely on medication cost and tightly restrict access to these new cancer treatments, they miss what health economists call the "societal perspective,"

referring to those factors that are life enhancing to patients, their families and employers, and their communities.

Working with Benefits Consultants

To help navigate the complexity and high costs of the U.S. healthcare system, many companies turn to benefits consultants. They serve as middlemen who can advise on **benefit design** and cut through the technical language and complicated policies that are typical of health plans. These consultants generally offer a menu of possible plan structures and utilization management practices are commonly incorporated as cost-containment strategies.

At Delta Air Lines, Lynn Zonakis worked in-house on health plan strategy, drawing from her knowledge as a benefits expert and registered nurse with deep experience in the healthcare system. "At most companies, there isn't somebody on board with the experience and skill set to work directly on health plan strategy and design. So, working with a benefits consultant makes perfect sense." Since employers rely on benefits consultants to guide them through unfamiliar and complex topics, Zonakis cautions, "They have huge sway over benefit decisions. I've met a number of good consultants over the years, who helped employers fill knowledge gaps. That said, many of the big consulting houses can be like factories at times: they produce a product and really push it with clients. Replicating products is efficient and increases revenue through those efficiencies. Further, over the years, a number of consultant houses have developed benefits management product lines. In my view, purchasing product lines from your consultant represents a conflict of interest, and should not be done."

This one-size-fits-all approach provided by many consultants doesn't offer the customization necessary to meet a company's unique needs and employee demographics. For instance, Lynn notes that at Delta, where the average employee age was 52, they needed to consider a growing risk of cancer and plan for upcoming retirement. "We had really proactive and rich cancer benefits to help support people through the entire lifespan," she explains. In contrast, a company with an average employee age of 32 might focus more on cancer coverage that affects a younger population, such as egg freezing or other fertility

preservation measures. Larger companies can and should go "off menu" to negotiate plan structures, including UM policies. Employers can and should make constructive changes that support employees with serious healthcare needs, such as relaxing pre-authorization requirements and reducing cost sharing.

In recent years, the trend in benefit design has leaned toward plans with high **deductibles** and lower **premiums**, thus shifting more out-of-pocket cost to employees. Formularies, the list of drugs covered by a health plan, have become more restricted and include more pricing tiers, which means higher expenses for employees that need certain medicines.

Restricting pharmacy benefits might seem to be a good idea: it can save the company money, may lower premiums for employees and, in theory, keeps coverage focused on drugs deemed both medically effective and cost effective. Importantly, however, any short-term savings can have costly long-term consequences for employers and patients. Multiple studies on restrictive formularies have found that they're associated with increased medical costs and higher total healthcare spending.¹⁵ Under a restrictive benefits plan, employees may be unable to access medications that support a higher quality of life or they may struggle under the financial burden of paying for these medications out of pocket.⁴ Restrictive benefits are linked to worse clinical outcomes, lower patient satisfaction, increased or extended hospital stays, increased pain and suffering, and even higher death rates.^{16, 15}

A retired benefits consultant, Jonathan Parker cautions against the appeal of short-term savings. "Regardless of how healthcare costs are reflected in an organization's 'bottom line,' it's crucial to look beyond the first year and anticipate how changes in plan design and/or UM provisions may affect longer-term costs. Even if a consultant says, 'You can save a significant amount of money over the next 12 months by changing X, Y, Z,' be sure to ask what's likely to happen in subsequent years as a result of those changes."

Working with Benefits Consultants

Employers and benefits managers may not realize they can "push back" on consultants regarding the drugs included in their company's formulary or the level of cost sharing required from employees.¹⁷

"Sometimes care is expensive, but it makes all the difference for better quality of life, recovery and survival," says oncologist Len Lichtenfeld, MD, former deputy chief medical officer for the American Cancer Society. "In cancer treatment, we've seen drug therapies initially deemed too expensive for coverage show breakthrough success to become the new standard of care. We need to get people the care that's right for them from the start and make sure they don't get lost in the system or give up." Jared Lewis, Director, Global Health and Wellbeing at Curtiss-Wright Corporation, agrees. "Do new treatments provide cures, are they less invasive or could they prevent more costly medical treatments later? The goal is to get each employee the right medication in the right quantity at the right time."

Even if a consultant says, 'You can save a significant amount of money over the next 12 months by changing X, Y, Z,' be sure to ask what's likely to happen in subsequent years as a result of those changes."

~ Jonathan Parker Retired benefits consultant

What Employers May Not Know:

Despite having health insurance, many cancer patients suffer from **financial toxicity** — the crippling financial side effects of cancer.

Health plans with high deductibles, high out-of-pocket expenses and restrictive drug benefits add to this financial burden.

Employers may not see the difficult financial choices that many employees with cancer must make:

Pay the out-of-pocket costs for their prescribed medication, or pay rent? Go to a doctor appointment, or buy groceries?

The expenses from cancer can also lead to credit card and personal debt that take a toll on the employee's significant relationships. A cancer diagnosis can even affect a patient's pets. When hospitalized,

who takes care of the dog? Dog food that was once a standard item on the grocery list may become a luxury when facing mounting medical expenses. Imagine the emotional pain and loneliness of having to give up a beloved pet in the midst of cancer treatment.

The Costs of Utilization Management (UM) to Employers

Of the estimated 40% of Americans that will develop cancer in their lifetimes, more and more are being diagnosed during their working years—due in part to the large baby boomer population and shifts in retirement age. Since work can be a primary source of support for people with cancer, offering a sense of normalcy and control, most want to keep working.¹⁸

ဂိုဂိုဂို

In fact, nearly two-thirds of cancer survivors remain "on the job" during and after treatment.¹⁹

Absenteeism & low productivity

When healthcare plans include restrictive UM tools, employees with cancer are likely to experience delays in care and increased out-of-pocket costs. These policies ultimately cost companies, too, as employees with serious or chronic conditions who don't receive swift and effective treatment are more likely to be absent and less productive when they are at work (also referred to as presenteeism). Under a plan that is heavy in UM, patients also spend time chasing down pre-authorizations, appealing coverage denials and suffering treatment delays while their health worsens.

It makes sense to take care of your people. If you can identify cancer early, you're going to have more people recover, increase productivity and increase engagement. High quality, timely cancer treatment not only results in faster recovery, but often costs less by focusing on the correct treatment with the right provider."

~ Lynn Zonakis

Former managing director of Health Strategy & Resources for Delta Air Lines

Job satisfaction & talent retention

Healthcare coverage can "cost" employers in other ways, too, because a weak benefits plan can make it more difficult to attract and retain talented employees. In a 2020 ADP survey, 60% of employees named healthcare as the most important benefit when considering a job offer.²⁰ Similar studies echo this emphasis on healthcare benefits,²¹ with the majority of employees in one survey indicating they'd take a job with lower pay if it offered better benefits.²² Higher employee satisfaction leads to improved employee retention, saving money and time spent on training new staff.

Jonathan Parker, formerly of The Segal Group, points out that there are "mutual benefits to having cost-effective, high-quality benefit programs, which demonstrate a caring attitude for those covered by the health plan, as well as their loved ones." He notes that "the gualitative impact of plan design on employees and their dependents can significantly affect institutional loyalty, productivity, absenteeism and morale." Parker adds that "many organizations recognize that bad experiences with the health programs they offereither in the level of benefits or the ease of accessing them-can result in significant dissatisfaction and are detrimental to the organization's success." As Parker has seen firsthand, if an employee has a bad experience with their healthcare coverage, they are more likely to blame their employer and not the insurance company or PBM working behind the scenes.

Jared Lewis, from Curtiss-Wright Corporation, clearly sees the value of investing in strong health benefits. "We work to make sure our benefit design reflects best in practice, so we can be sure we're attracting talent and retaining employees. For example, our philosophy for years has been to remove financial barriers for medications that manage chronic conditions. That way, people can take their medicine, stay well and prevent more costly complications on the medical side."

Common UM Practices & Consequences



The next resources in this booklet examine seven utilization management practices and some of their potential consequences. They all pose specific challenges for cancer patients and individuals with serious and chronic health conditions.

Executive decision-makers, human resources professionals, company benefits managers and employees will be able to make more informed decisions about healthcare plans with a better understanding of these concepts and how they affect the course of care.

Here is a brief introduction to each before taking a deeper dive.

1

Pre-authorization:

Pre-authorization (also referred to as "prior authorization," "prior approval," "precertification," or "PA") is a utilization management policy that requires certain services, treatments or prescriptions to be reviewed by the insurer and deemed medically necessary before a patient can receive that care. An insurer may deny coverage if pre-authorization is not properly secured and even when granted, can ultimately refuse to pay for treatment. While many pre-authorizations are ultimately approved, the time-consuming process adds stress and extra costs, leads to delays in treatment and causes some patients to abandon necessary medications entirely.

2

Formulary Design:

The "formulary" is a list of drugs, including brand names, **generics** and **biosimilars**, that have been approved for coverage by a health plan. Most formularies arrange drugs into tiers based on their price, profit for the PBM, and medical benefits; patients typically pay a higher copay or coinsurance rate for drugs in higher tiers. PBMs' ability to control which drugs get included on a formulary gives them significant bargaining power with drug manufacturers. They typically offer cash-back rebates that offset the PBM's cost for that drug, so that a "preferred drug" status on a formulary may have less to do with medical benefits or cost to patients, and more to do with PBM profits.

In designing formularies, insurers and PBMs may include assessing whether a drug costs more than the dollar value they assign to a person's life. The controversial **QALY** or "Quality-Adjusted Life Year" is one such value assessment tool. While the QALY has long been banned for use in federal programs due to its discriminatory nature, insurers are increasingly considering value assessments based on the QALY.

3

Step Therapy:

Step therapy, otherwise known as a "fail-first" protocol, requires patients to try one or more lowertier treatments from their health plan's formulary and demonstrate it has "failed" before the insurer will cover the doctor-prescribed course of treatment. Step therapy may be enforced when a physician prescribes a higher-priced or non-preferred drug and the insurer determines there are more affordable options. This policy can result in months of patient suffering when the required alternative does not work well for that individual or causes dangerous side effects. It's particularly heartless if a patient is required to take drugs that have been unsuccessful for them in the past. As of August 2021, 29 states have enacted laws to protect patients from the harm that step therapy can cause; these laws, however, only apply to insurance plans regulated by those individual states. A federal law has been proposed, though it has not yet won approval.

4 Specialty Pharmacies:	Specialty pharmacies provide medications for patients with complex and chronic health conditions, including cancer. These drugs often require special handling or compounding, and careful patient monitoring may also be needed. Specialty pharmacies can help to coordinate proper administration of medications, consult with patients and their caregivers, and ensure insurance requirements for coverage are met. Many major insurers and PBMs now manage their own specialty pharmacies. Patients are typically required to use the specialty pharmacy designated by their health plan, which can create logistical challenges. It can also interfere with pharmacist/physician/patient relationships that are based on years of trust and safety related to managing multiple medications and conditions.
5 Copay Accumulator Programs:	Many patients who take high-cost drugs rely on drug manufacturer coupons and other financial support to lower their out-of-pocket prescription costs, which can total thousands of dollars a month. This financial assistance has traditionally been counted as part of patients' out-of-pocket spending, helping them quickly and affordably reach their annual deductibles and out-of-pocket maximums. Under copay accumulator programs (and their sister program, copay maximizers), a growing number of insurers subtract the value of manufacturer coupons and copay financial assistance from patients' out- of-pocket spending, so that deductibles and maximums are harder to reach, and patients have to pay significantly more for their medications on an annual basis. Healthcare watchdog groups have flagged this problematic trend and are working with lawmakers to shut it down. As of July 2021, 24 states have either enacted or are currently considering laws that would restrict copay accumulator programs.
6 The Appeals Process:	Insurers may deny coverage—that is, refuse to pay for care—for a variety of reasons, ranging from billing code errors to treatments deemed "experimental" or "not medically necessary." Patients can choose to appeal the denial and petition the insurer to reconsider its decision. The reality, however, is that most patients don't appeal; as a result, many insurers have built their business models around denials. For employers, denials rarely save them money: if anything, the burdensome appeals process creates greater medical costs down the road by needlessly delaying care. It also increases missed work and reduces productivity, due to the financial and emotional distress it causes employees. Healthcare experts point out it would be far more beneficial to streamline the approval and pre-authorization process from the start, before appeals are needed.
7 Financial Non-adherence: Scan the QR co	When patients don't follow their prescribed treatment plan due to unaffordable out-of-pocket costs, it is dubbed "financial non-adherence." Patients may choose not to fill prescriptions, delay refills or take less than the prescribed dose. Restrictive drug benefits and other UM practices that increase patients' out-of-pocket costs cause higher rates of financial non-adherence, disrupting treatment and leading to poor health outcomes that drive higher expenses later, when more intensive or emergency care is needed. Employees may blame their employer for the higher costs, when in fact it's likely to be an unintended consequence of the plan benefit design.
Also available at Better	

Pre-authorization

In healthcare, pre-authorization (PA)—also called "prior authorization," "prior approval," and "pre-certification" requires that certain services, treatments or prescriptions be submitted to the insurer for review and deemed medically necessary before the patient receives that care.²³ Although intended to contain costs and protect patient safety,²⁴ PA requirements can delay treatment, restrict access to medications or specialists and increase out-of-pocket costs for patients, who may ultimately abandon treatment.²⁵

Joanna Morales, a cancer rights attorney and CEO of Triage Cancer, describes how securing PA adds stress for cancer patients and their caregivers during an already difficult time. "While healthcare providers may assist with preauthorizations, at the end of the day the burden is on the patient. If a patient doesn't get pre-authorization for a drug or treatment they've received, the insurance company can refuse to cover it. Then the patient may have to pay the full cost of that care." Morales points out that since there isn't a set list of drugs or procedures that require PA, patients have to be vigilant and proactive in seeking it. "And the rub is that even when you get pre-authorization, payment isn't guaranteed." Morales has known of insurers telling patients that pre-authorization "was just temporary and we can change our mind."

An estimated 72-90% of all PA requests are approved, with additional approvals granted when patients appeal an initial denial.^{26, 27} That sounds like good news at first. But given the delays and costs associated with PA, that high approval rate raises questions about what this process actually accomplishes. Unfortunately, the hassle of PA may be the point: some health plans use it as a deterrent or gatekeeper, knowing that even to get the care they need, many patients won't pursue pre-authorization or appeal when it's denied.

And the rub is that even when you get preauthorization, payment isn't guaranteed."

~ Joanna Morales

Cancer rights attorney & CEO of Triage Cancer

Many physicians report that PA policies are an obstacle to good patient care. According to the 2020 AMA Prior Authorization Physician Survey:

- → 90% said pre-authorization has a somewhat or significant negative impact on patient outcomes.
- → 94% reported that the process delays access to necessary care.
- → 79% reported that it led to patients abandoning their recommended course of treatment.
- → 30% reported that pre-authorization has led to a serious adverse event for patients in their care.

Pre-authorization & prescription drugs

Increasingly, insurers have targeted prescription drugs for pre-authorization as a cost-saving measure. What started as requirements for new, high-cost specialty medications has grown to include even established brand-name drugs and generics with no low-cost alternatives.²⁸ For example, nearly a quarter of drugs covered by Medicare Part D plans required PA in 2019; in 2007, it was just 8%.²⁹

Physicians typically can't tell if a medication requires PA when they prescribe it: that info isn't readily accessible, varies by health plan and changes often. Instead, physicians submit requests retrospectively, after the pharmacy flags a coverage issue.^{28, 30} But that added step deters many patients: 37% of prescriptions flagged for PA are abandoned by patients at the pharmacy and never filled.³¹

Treatment abandonment is one reason why PA is linked to worse health outcomes, increased hospitalizations and higher overall medical costs when it's applied to drugs that treat diabetes, depression and other mental health conditions. These same serious and chronic illnesses—as well as cancer and multiple sclerosis—are now subject to PA requirements that cover entire disease states and classes of drugs under some health plans.²⁸

1

Costs of pre-authorizations

Medical practices expend significant resources to secure pre-authorizations. In the 2020 AMA survey, respondents reported an average of 40 pre-authorizations per physician, per week. The extra administrative work takes away from physicians' time spent caring for patients and contributes to physician burnout, which reduces the quality of care.³² Some physicians avoid prescribing certain treatments, even when they're beneficial, knowing that the PA process will be particularly cumbersome.²⁵

As practices struggle to cover higher administrative overhead due to the PA process, the costs come back to patients. "You might see on a bill where a physician charged \$300 for a 20-minute visit, and you think, 'How can that be?!,' but very little of that is profit," explains oncologist Len Lichtenfeld, MD. "The majority goes to the costs of running a medical practice, including the extra administrative staff and other office overhead needed to handle pre-authorizations. What we see now are large networks buying up smaller practices. These networks have a stranglehold on services in large cities and can go toe-to-toe with insurance companies to negotiate better reimbursement. But that comes at a cost to patients, directly and indirectly. It comes in higher insurance premiums, higher prices for service, higher copays."

What does pre-authorization accomplish?

Many physicians and patients experience an endless PA roller coaster.

In a 2016 AMA survey,

80% of physicians reported they were frequently required to re-submit requests for on-going treatments that stabilize patients with chronic conditions...

despite the finding that 72% of initial pre-authorization requests were approved.²⁶ A study of dermatology clinics found the vast majority of biologic drug prescriptions were approved, yet the PA process cost clinics a median \$15.80

per request and took as long as 31 business days.³³ It begs the question: Should patients really wait a month for medications that are overwhelmingly authorized?

Pre-authorization doesn't save patients or employers money, and health economists question whether it actually saves health plans money either.

In some cases, administrative costs to the insurer outweigh any cost savings and plans actually lose money.³⁴

Other studies have linked PA to increases in overall healthcare costs.³⁵ In one, patients with Type 2 diabetes who were denied PA for newer medications had higher overall medical costs the following year, likely resulting from conditions that worsened without necessary drugs.³⁶

Calls for reform ask why the time-consuming, repetitive PA process can't be streamlined to benefit all involved since reducing the administrative load could save time and money for patients, physicians and health plans alike.³⁷ A standardized electronic approval process and real-time decisions on commonly approved items could help. Employers can address this by selecting or customizing health plans that relax PA requirements, particularly for chronic conditions and time-sensitive illnesses such as cancer.

In response to this, under a recently passed Texas law, physicians will no longer be required to get prior authorization for common procedures or prescriptions where they have a 90% or better approval history.

CASE STUDY

Amy W. Washington D.C. area Multiple myeloma



As a healthy and active 37-year-old, my world shattered when I was diagnosed with an incurable blood and bone marrow cancer, multiple myeloma. This rare cancer tends to be found in men aged 70 and over, so my situation was met with puzzled doctors and a poor prognosis.

Myeloma creates holes in your bones, which has caused extraordinarily painful fractures in my spine, skull, pelvis and ribs. It is debilitating. I even had to learn to walk again when my spine collapsed. In order to afford healthcare, I continued to work full-time for many years, until last year, when I had to take disability as my work could not accommodate my treatment and fatigue-impacted schedule. Along the way, there were times when I just could not make it to work due to fatigue, feeling ill and pain. My cancer has also had a severe impact on my stamina and ability to have a social or family life—again from the fatigue, nausea and pain.

Not only am I fighting a rare cancer, but I am also forced to deal with challenging policies, red tape and delays from insurance companies. Two stressful and dangerous insurance policies are pre-authorization and formulary restrictions. Formulary restrictions sometimes stop my insurance from covering the cost of the medications I have been relying on; pre-authorization can slow access to my medication, since new and/or additional specialists have to authorize my urgently needed drugs. Both of these policies have slowed my healing and possibly shortened my life expectancy by allowing my cancer more time to progress. They also end up costing the insurance company more money in the long run, as delays mean getting sicker, then having to battle back an even higher cancer load and thus needing even more medications to "dig out of the hole."

From the time I started treatment in 2008, I have been working with several doctors to determine the exact medication combination that is the most effective and tolerable. Sometimes my treatment has been oral chemotherapy, which can severely disrupt the balance of one's stomach. Unfortunately, after determining a workable medication combination that allows me to function at a semi-decent level, my insurance sometimes changes its formulary restrictions. They decide to no longer cover the cost of my medications and shift the brunt of the costs onto me. When I could not pay these enormous fees, the insurance company would propose other medications that were different enough to throw off my medication regimen, which could mean ineffective chemotherapy. Some insurance substitutions were so dangerous for me that my doctor would not even allow me to take the substitution. So, I then must start all over again, all the while losing time in battling my cancer.

My health is always in a precarious state as insurance companies fail to look at the big picture—they often use tactics such as formulary changes to lower their bills at the expense of patients like myself. The medication swaps that insurance companies suggest interact with my body and chemotherapy in a different way than my original prescription, and I need a specific combination of drugs to keep me functioning. Needing my precise original prescriptions, I have had to appeal and fight to keep my drugs and health. Both the appeals process and pre-authorization continue to get in the way of my healing and quality of life, including my ability to work. Appeals take countless hours from very sick patients who often do not have the stamina to fight. And, sadly, doctors are often not allowed to dispense medications they know could help because of the slow pre-authorization process. These obstacles have delayed my treatments too many times, which only shortens my days.

As with most cancers, myeloma begins to evade treatments, causing urgent searches for new ones. I have gone through most FDA-approved treatments for my cancer, so the only hope for extending my life is successful medication developed in clinical trials. I, and my loved ones, participate in Cycle for Survival, where I have personally raised \$90,000+ that goes directly to clinical trials for rare cancer. When I am not participating in these events, I am also advocating for better healthcare laws that serve and protect patients. At the end of the day, my life is hinged on these protective healthcare laws and medical trials, and I contribute so that others never have to go through what I have gone through.

Pre-authorization: (also: prior authorization, prior approval, pre-certification)

This is a requirement that certain services, treatments or prescriptions be submitted to the insurer for review and deemed medically necessary before the patient receives that care.

DELAYS

treatments

If a patient doesn't secure a required preauthorization, an insurer can deny coverage and the patient must pay the full cost.

72-9

of all pre-authorization

requests are approved

(2016 AMA Prior Authorization Physician Survey; American Hospital Association.

December 2020)

Even when patients get pre-authorization, it is not a guarantee of payment: insurers can still deny coverage later.

BUT THE TIME-CONSUMING PROCESS,





\$**°**

INCREASES out-of-pocket costs for patients

SOME HEALTH PLANS USE PRE-AUTHORIZATION AS A GATEKEEPER,

access to medications

or specialists

knowing that many patients won't pursue it or won't appeal when it's denied, to get the care they need.

Many physicians reported that pre-authorization:

- **90**[%] Negatively impacts patient outcomes.
- **94**[%] Delays access to necessary care.
 - **9%** Leads to patients abandoning their recommended course of treatment.
 - Leads to a serious adverse event for their patients.

(2020 & 2016 AMA Prior Authorization Physician Surveys)

The added step of pre-authorization deters many patients from filling their prescriptions:

37%

of prescriptions flagged for preauthorization are abandoned by patients at the pharmacy. (CoverMyMeds, 2019)

How long a patient had to wait for prescription pre-authorization, even when the majority of similar requests were approved. (Carlisle, Ryan T., et al., 2020)



S The extra administrative staff and other office overhead needed to handle preauthorizations comes at a cost to patients, directly and indirectly. It comes in higher insurance premiums, higher prices for service, higher copays."

~ Len Litchfield, MD, Oncologist & Former Deputy Chief Medical Officer for the American Cancer Society

<u>EMPLOYERS CAN</u> address this by selecting or designing health plans that relax pre-authorization requirements, particularly for chronic conditions and time-sensitive illnesses like cancer.

Scan the QR code to view a short video about pre-authorization.

Also available at BetterRxBenefits.org



14

How do formularies work?

A formulary is a list of available drugs approved for use by a health plan. It is typically divided into tiers, which reflect the level of cost sharing required each time the prescription is filled—that is, how much of the drug's price a patient will need to cover at the pharmacy counter as determined by their copay or coinsurance rate. The formulary is designed by insurers and pharmacy benefit managers (PBMs), who presumably examine the clinical outcomes associated with different medications and current treatment standards.38 Drug costs also play a significant role in formulary design, including rebate "paybacks" negotiated with drug manufacturers that generate profits for PBMs, but don't necessarily lower costs for patients. It's nearly impossible to determine the basis for a formulary design because there is no transparency in the process; there is no requirement that PBMs disclose how decisions are made, or how or when changes are made.

Formularies can be open, restrictive or a mix of the two. An **"open" formulary** provides at least partial coverage for nearly all drugs, even if they're not included on the preferred list. In a restrictive or **"closed" formulary**, the health plan only provides coverage for the limited number of drugs. If a prescribed treatment is not on its formulary, the insurer is unlikely to provide coverage and patients must pay costs in full.

Patients are increasingly likely to discover "gaps" in their drug benefits and face significant out-of-pocket costs if they need to access a medication that is not on the formulary.³⁹ While restrictive formularies have become a common UM tool, multiple studies have linked their use to increased medical costs and higher total healthcare spending.¹⁵ In contrast, studies of open formularies suggest better outcomes. For example, researchers modeled scenarios under different formulary structures for patients with HIV and found that all major outcomes, including survival rates and overall treatment costs, were significantly better in the open formulary scenarios.⁴⁰

How are formulary tiers set?

PBMs set formulary tiers based on a drug's approved use, (presumably) its efficacy and benefits, cost to patients, cost to the insurance company and cash-back rebates that manufacturers pay the PBM. Formularies include both brandname drugs and generics—versions of brand-name drugs that sell at a lower cost, but have the same active ingredients, dosage, strength, safety, effectiveness and quality. Generally, generics and low-cost drugs appear in lower tiers, with brandname treatments appearing in the higher tiers.



2

TIER / DRUG TYPE	DESCRIPTION	COST
1 Lowest Copay Usually Generic	Most generic prescription drugs. Lowest copayment.	\$
2 Medium Copay Usually "preferred" brand-name drugs	A PBM may give a drug preferred placement because it has negotiated cost-saving rebates from the manufacturer, in exchange for placement on a lower tier that drives a higher volume of use. These rebates are typically not passed along to the patient or employer.	\$\$
3 High Copay Brand-Name	Some of these brand-name drugs may have lower-priced generics on Tier 1 or 2	\$\$\$
4 Highest Copay Specialty	 Drugs used for chronic and serious illnesses, including cancer Instead of a flat copay, patients may be required to pay a percentage of a drug's total cost, which is called co-insurance. Alternatively, some employers designate Tier 4 for "preventative care" and remove any cost-sharing requirements. 	\$\$\$\$

Typically, PBMs and insurers prefer that physicians prescribe Tier 1 medications as a first step, versus a more expensive brand-name drug from Tier 2 or 3. However, this isn't always the case: some PBMs receive and pocket high-volume rebates for brand-name drugs in exchange for lower tier placement, so the brand-names may end up costing patients less than the comparable generics.

Prescriptions for drugs that are not on formulary are usually denied coverage; patients need to pay the full cost or appeal to the insurer to include the drug, a timeconsuming process that typically delays treatment and adds stress. Formularies vary by health plan and change over time, often without any transparency or notice to patients or clinicians. The same drug might be Tier 2 under one health plan and Tier 3 under another, or a drug's tier position may change when a health plan changes its formulary.

The role of rebates

PBMs negotiate rebates from drug manufacturers in exchange for preferred placement of a brand-name drug on their formulary. Rebates are refunds that are paid to the pharmacy benefit manager by the drug manufacturer after the drug is sold—so the PBM's final net price for the drug is lower than the original list price. PBMs may pass the rebates on to health plans; however, their contracts often allow them to keep a portion. Rebates are a major source of revenue for many PBMs.

Mark Peters, PharmD, explains how rebates drive drug placement on formularies. "Some drugs have such large rebates that it's very difficult for newer drugs in their class to get placed in the same formulary tier." The new drug typically ends up placed at a higher tier rate, if it's covered at all. "The PBM doesn't want patients to use the new drug even if it's a better remedy for them, because the rebates make the older drug so profitable."

Because rebate negotiations are not made public (in fact, they're a closely guarded secret), it's difficult to gauge if or how savings are passed on to patients or the employers who sponsor plans. Studies suggest the direct benefits to patients may be minimal. For example, a 2021 study found that changes in net drug prices—which reflect the savings to PBMs, post-rebate—were not correlated with changes in patient out-of-pocket spending.⁴¹

These studies concluded that rebates reduce PBM spending on drugs, but aren't directly passed on to patients. To address this, some policymakers have called

Formulary Design

for an end to confidential rebate negotiations; others propose a process that would apply rebates directly to the patient's out-of-pocket cost when they pay for drugs.⁴¹

Generics, biosimilars & competitive pricing

The competitive advantage conferred by rebates has confounded conventional wisdom about brand-name vs. generic drug or biosimilar pricing. As described above, generic drugs are slight variations of a brand-name drug, marketed at a lower cost. Likewise, a biosimilar is a lower-priced alternative to a biologic drug (therapies developed from living cells that help boost the immune system's response).

Generics and biosimilars are intended to keep brand-name drug prices in check. In 1984, the Hatch-Waxman Act made it legal to promote price competition via generics once a brandname drug's patent protection runs out. The FDA has created a similar pathway to approval for biosimilar drugs.

The rebate system, however, has turned the tables and distorted the market. For many years, insurers and PBMs steered patients towards generic or biosimilar options through their formulary tiers. Now, large PBMs are altogether excluding some generics and biosimilars from their formularies, despite their being effective and available at lower list prices, in favor of brand-name drugs that supply significant rebates.

The fact that savings from generics aren't appealing to some cost-focused PBMs hints at the high profits to be made from brand-name rebates. Again, these savings are not necessarily passed on to patients; the rebate process and resulting exclusions effectively block patients from accessing the cheaper generic medicines because, to patients, they actually cost more out-of-pocket than the brand-name drugs.

In cancer care, oral drug treatments have rapidly joined chemotherapy and biologic infusions as safe and effective cancer treatments. These drugs are usually covered as a pharmacy benefit, while infusion therapies typically fall under medical benefits. While the oral drugs offer numerous benefits, they often cost patients much more to access, due to the cost-sharing requirements in restrictive formulary designs. Proposed "oral parity" legislation (such as the proposed federal Cancer Drug Parity Act of 2021, H.R. 4385) seeks to make oral medications as accessible to patients as infusions and remove barriers that health plans might implement to limit their use. This legislation requires a plan to cover selfadministered anticancer medication at a cost no less favorable than the cost of IV, port-administered or injected anticancer medications. Parity laws have found major support among state governments. Especially important during the COVID-19 pandemic, oral therapies have allowed many patients to stay at home and avoid the potential virus exposure from in-person chemotherapy infusions. Oral therapies can also minimize the need for transportation and time off from work, thereby supporting increased productivity.

FOR EXAMPLE:

Express Scripts, a PBM that handles benefits for 100 million Americans, gave preference to nine brand-name drugs and excluded their generics in a 2019 formulary change. The excluded generics included an insulin that was half the price of the brand-name and an asthma medication priced at a 70% discount to the brand-name price.^{42,43}

2

Mid-year formulary changes & non-medical switching

Formulary plans can change mid-year or at any other time, which leaves the insured, who often can only choose their health plan during open enrollment, with an unexpected cost or lack of access to treatments. Changes may reflect treatment advances or new findings, but changes also occur when PBMs negotiate lucrative new deals with drug manufacturers. Depending on negotiations, a treatment might replace another, receive a better tier placement or be eliminated entirely from a plan's approved formulary. Many states and patients-rights advocates are fighting to prohibit arbitrary and unexpected formulary changes.⁴⁴

Changes to formulary coverage can result in **non-medical switching**, which occurs when changes are made in a patient's treatment plan that are NOT prescribed by their doctor for medical reasons. For instance, nonmedical switching can occur when an insurer completely eliminates coverage for a medication, moves a drug to a higher formulary tier that is unaffordable to the patient, or offers patients or pharmacists a financial incentive to switch to a preferred drug.

A 2021 promotion from Cigna illustrates the last case:



The insurer removed a widely used psoriasis drug from most of its formularies.

- THEN -

Offered patients a \$500 debit card for agreeing to switch to a different medication. While Cigna framed the change as a cost-saving benefit to patients, physicians and advocacy groups decried the offer as "unethical," "unconscionable" and "coercive" for "targeting patients and enticing them with a financial incentive, particularly during a pandemic, when finances and employment for many are uncertain." They expressed concern that the move would disrupt long-standing relationships between physicians and patients and could jeopardize patient health if the new medication was not as safe and effective as the replaced drug.⁴⁵

It often takes doctors and patients months, or even years, to find the most effective medications to manage a patient's cancer or other serious illness. When an employee loses access to a medication that has stabilized their condition, they can experience re-emerging symptoms, negative side effects or even a relapse of their illness. For patients using biologic and biosimilar cancer therapies that are precisely tailored to the genetics of their cancer, a switch in treatments can be especially precarious. This can also be the case for certain "quality of life" medications that don't treat cancer, but rather treat medication side effects.

While formulary changes and non-medical switches are intended to reduce costs for a health plan, costs may actually increase over time from extra administrative work, more doctor appointments, additional laboratory work and more hospitalizations due to adverse effects and treatment failures.^{46, 47} Formulary changes can also create higher out-of-pocket costs for patients, decreased work productivity and increased stress and anxiety. While some patients can make a more affordable switch, others may not have access to acceptable alternative medications and may abandon treatment altogether.

CASE STUDY

Patricia Goldsmith New York, NY Colorectal cancer



In 2014, out of the blue, I was diagnosed with colorectal cancer. I was really lucky; I had great insurance, I had contacts at every cancer center in the country and my case was handled properly. But unfortunately, one of the consequences of my treatment was a very, very bad side effect: major gastrointestinal distress. And that can have a dramatic impact on anyone's life. Thankfully, my physician prescribed a medication that worked. As time went on, we eventually determined a dosage that worked very effectively for me. It was a lower dosage than when I originally started on the drug; life was all good and I could continue my daily activities.

One day, I received a notice from my pharmacy as I was trying to refill the medication: it was no longer covered—not on the formulary. Imagine my panic. I was fortunate enough that I had some stockpiled because the dosage had been reduced. My surgeon, my primary care physician, everyone went through all the appeals processes and United Healthcare/OptumRx said, "No." So, my primary care physician suggested, "Trish, why don't you just try what they're substituting and see if it works. Try it for a month." I agreed and went to the local Walgreens drive-thru to pick it up. I pulled up and the pharmacist said, "I'm sorry, you're going to have to come inside, it's too big to put in the drawer." So I walked into the store and picked up a rather large box.



It was slightly smaller than a breadbox. Inside were 180 small packets. The directions were to take six packets each day, mixing each individual packet with

eight ounces of juice or water. The packets couldn't be combined. This was not a regimen I could tolerate. Immensely frustrated trying to reach someone at OptumRx, I finally got a human being on the phone line. I said, "You have got to be kidding me about this." And here's the solution that was offered: "Well, you can mix the packet in applesauce."

Needless to say, this was not an acceptable option for me. I am a busy person and I didn't have the time or patience to mix this medicine six times a day. Instead, I decided to take the original medication, which cost me \$695 out of pocket per month. Then, about a year and a half ago, I got notification from OptumRx that my original medication was back on the formulary and that I could get it through mail order. My copay was about \$60 a month, they would send three months' worth and I thought, "This is great!"

I waited two or three weeks and heard nothing. Then I got a letter that this medication was out of stock, but they had a substitute for me. Can you guess? The packets again. I went to my local Walgreens and asked my pharmacist if there was a shortage of my medication or a problem keeping it in stock. She said, "No, I have it in stock." So I figured it's just OptumRx's way of trying to switch me to the less-expensive treatment.

I still take the medication. If I run out, I'm back to the six-packets-a-day plan or the \$695-a-month plan.

Formulary Design & Non-medical Switching:

The formulary is a list of drugs approved by a health plan, typically arranged into tiers. In a "closed" formulary, the health plan only provides coverage for a limited number of drugs; if a patient is prescribed a treatment not on the formulary, they must typically pay costs in full.



Drug cost is often what drives formulary decisions. Pharmacy benefit managers – also known as PBMs – negotiate rebates from drug manufacturers in exchange for preferred placement of a brand-name drug on their formulary. Rebates are a major source of revenue for many PBMs.

PBMs and insurers can change a drug's tier or completely drop a drug from a formulary at any time during the year, for any reason. This can result in non-medical switching.

Non-medical switching:

When patients face a **LLL** change in treatment for any reason that is **NOT** about improving care.

Reasons for non-medical switching include:

- → Insurer completely eliminates coverage for a medication
- → Insurer moves a drug to a higher formulary tier that is unaffordable to the patient
- → Insurer offers patients or pharmacists a financial incentive to switch to a preferred drug

One day, I received a notice from my pharmacy as I was trying to refill the medication: it was no longer covered—not on the formulary. Imagine my panic."

~ Patricia Goldsmith, Colorectal Cancer Survivor & CEO of CancerCare

EMPLOYERS CAN help by making adjustments to the formulary offered to their employees:

<u>REQUIRING</u> plans to offer an open formulary that covers prescriptions for all FDA-approved drugs when appropriate and medically necessary

PROHIBITING plans from changing the formulary mid-year

PREVENTING non-medical switching for patients who are stable on their current drugs.

<u>MINIMIZING</u> out-of-pocket costs for drugs used to treat chronic conditions to increase medication adherence and improve patient wellbeing



Scan the QR code to view a short video about formulary design.

Also available at BetterRxBenefits.org

20

Formulary design & value assessments

In recent years, PBMs have increasingly used value assessment frameworks to inform drug formulary design and their negotiations with drug manufacturers. Value assessments are economic frameworks applied to healthcare decisions to determine whether the benefits of a drug or treatment are worth the price being charged for it. Each framework comprises a number of factors, including efficacy, cost, benefits, risks and, sometimes, the larger impact on a group or society.⁴⁸

Value assessments are typically designed to average and summarize; this makes it challenging to apply them to individual needs and fails to acknowledge diverse circumstances among patients. As health economist Lisa Kennedy points out, current frameworks "aren't reliable across the same patients over time, across different patients and, additionally, fall down when required to measure more difficult things such as [treatment value] in the elderly or the very young".⁴⁹ In addition, the formulas used to make these assessments aren't always transparent.

While framework design involves multiple stakeholders, patients are notably missing among them. Most value assessments fail to incorporate the diverse and dynamic ways patients think about value—for instance, the cancer patients who value treatments that will allow them to get

> back to work faster, return to exercising or playing piano, or to attend a grandchild's graduation.

ICER & concerns regarding value assessments

An influential but controversial agent in value assessment is the Institute for Clinical and Economic Review (ICER), a private research organization, and its framework, the "incremental cost-effectiveness ratio." While this framework has gained traction among insurers and PBMs, Cancer*Care* and many leading medical organizations have criticized ICER's methodology, citing its reliance on the discriminatory QALY standard (discussed below), "one-size-fits-all" models, lack of transparency and failure to incorporate real-world perspectives from patients, caregivers and physicians.⁵⁰

ICER only discloses the details of their assessment models to select stakeholders. This "black box" process makes it impossible for researchers to share methods, conduct peer reviews or attempt to replicate and validate results. The lack of transparency also hides the model's underlying assumptions, limitations and gaps that can impact the relevance of its results for patients with even slightly different profiles.

Without patient input, crucial perspectives on "value" are missing from ICER's assessments. Value Our Health, a consortium of leading healthcare organizations, argues that ICER reduces the meaning of "value" to "cost-effective" only. The National Health Council's Patient-Centered Value Model Rubric outlines the need for patient involvement at every stage of the value assessment process, from initial development to the sharing of results. Value assessments

> should consider multiple facets of patients' lives and broader societal perspectives, such as a patient's ability to work and caregiver burden.^{51, 52}

QALYs (Quality-Adjusted Life Year)

A primary concern regarding ICER is its use of a QALY standard in its value assessments. QALY stands for "Quality-Adjusted Life Year" and is an older economic tool used to quantify the net value of a treatment by determining how its cost corresponds to the potential benefit. The QALY model essentially creates a formula for "quality of life x length of life" that can be stated as a single number.



ICER calculates treatment's "cost-per-QALY" а and compares it against that \$100,000-\$150,000 threshold. Healthcare experts point out that this is "an artificial affordability threshold,"51 but one with very real consequences for patients when it's applied by insurers and PBMs. For example, in 2018 CVS Caremark announced plans to adopt ICER frameworks for managing their drug formulary and would no longer cover drugs with a cost-per-QALY over \$100,000. Consider the real people who would be denied medication because it is deemed that the value of their lives is capped at \$100,000 a year. Their family would no doubt say that another year with their loved one is priceless.

By design, the QALY's narrow focus on "perfect health" devalues and discriminates against people due to their age, disabilities or chronic conditions. How these patients actually view their quality of life is not considered. For the many individuals who never meet the criteria for "perfect health," ICER's calculation credits them with only a percentage of a life-year. This makes it even harder to show a treatment is a "valuable" investment according to the QALY threshold. When QALYs are used to determine cost effectiveness for a drug formulary or other health plan coverage, the resulting decisions have the same discriminatory flaws and could lead policymakers and **payers** to conclude that certain treatments for seniors, patients with chronic conditions or people with disabilities are not worth covering.

The Affordable Care Act bans the use of QALYs for creating Medicare drug formularies, building on similar prohibitions and civil rights protections established earlier through the Rehabilitation Act and Americans with Disabilities Act. As Patricia Goldsmith, Chief Executive Officer of Cancer*Care*, noted, "The Medicare program has long barred the use of QALYs in reimbursement and coverage decisions, recognizing that this metric discriminates against people with cancer and other serious health conditions. It's frustrating that state and federal policymakers continue to debate their use in public programs. Organizations representing millions of patients and people with disabilities demonstrate a united front against state and federal policies that use the QALY metric or import it through reference pricing." 2

CASE STUDY

Chris & Michelle Bushell Calgary, Alberta, Canada **Cystic fibrosis**



We are the parents of two sons afflicted with cystic fibrosis (CF), the most common fatal genetic condition. From the moment Zachary (age 19) and Brett (age 16) arrived in this world, we have never known for certain what tomorrow would bring, when the next 2:00 a.m. trip to Emergency Care would occur, or whether hours of chest therapy would reduce the discomfort of constant rasping and wheezing. For 19 years, we've lived daily with the prospect of potentially losing one, if not both, of our sons.

Now imagine knowing that a life-saving drug is available for CF patients. Trikafta has changed the lives and long-term outlook for CF patients worldwide. It's the silver bullet that can slay the CF monster and provide a chance at a normal life. Trikafta is approved for use and covered by insurance in most countries in the western hemisphere—except for our home country of Canada.

This devastating reality is due to the use of QALYbased value assessments in Canada's public health system, which fail to account for life-changing innovations, precision medicines and other highcost specialty drugs. The review process is also excruciatingly slow: it took nearly five years from Health Canada approval for Trikafta's predecessor to gain public healthcare coverage!

Time is not on our side. These drugs are preventative: excessive delay or imposing funding conditions, such as patients needing to have low lung function, defeats the purpose of the drug and is inhumane. CF eats away at patients' lungs each and every day.

A few weeks before Christmas 2020, our oldest son, Zach, was hospitalized. He had been plagued with an unresponsive, highly resistant gram-negative bacteria for the past five years. During that time, he used colistin (the "antibiotic of last resort") twice daily, converting an IV med into an inhalant to reduce the threat of this deadly bacteria. His lung function had dropped to just 40%. We thought the moment we had dreaded since his birth had arrived: CF was finally going to win. We were determined to get Trikafta for Zach no matter what. A clinic in the U.S. took the generous step of granting a virtual assessment and prescribed Trikafta on the condition that Zach was "in the process of moving" to the United States. Shortly afterwards, we took the COVID risk and flew to the United States for Zach's first month's supply.

Three weeks later, after starting Trikafta, Zach's lung function was 71% and his CF team in Calgary stopped his antibiotics. As parents that have been expecting the early death of a child, the feelings we had seeing those results were nothing less than euphoric. Today, Zach's lung function continues to climb and the resistant bacteria that had plagued him are gone. He's gaining weight and the abdominal pain he's suffered his whole life is gone.

Trikafta (or its successor) is a drug that Zach will have to be on for the rest of his life. The reality is that, in order to keep receiving it and the care he needs, we've had to send Zach to live in the United States. Zach has a U.S. passport; he was born in California while we were working there as expats. But he grew up in Canada; our family is Canadian. As Canadians, we're still anxiously waiting for Trikafta to be available to our younger son, Brett. It's painful to see our boys separated not only by miles, but by the opportunity for a healthier life. We've agreed to share this private part of our lives because we feel obligated and determined to help Brett and other Canadian CF patients.

QALY-based Value Assessments:

Value assessments are economic frameworks applied to healthcare decisions to determine whether the benefits of a drug or treatment are worth the price being charged for it.

An influential but controversial agent in value assessment is the Institute for Clinical and Economic Review (ICER), a private research organization, and its framework, the "incremental cost-effectiveness ratio."



While this framework has gained traction among insurers and PBMs, Cancer*Care* and many leading medical organizations have criticized ICER's methodology, citing its reliance on the discriminatory QALY standard, "one-size-fits-all" models, lack of transparency and failure to incorporate real-world perspectives from patients, caregivers and physicians.

"Principles for Value Assessment." Value Our Health, 24 June 2019

A primary concern regarding ICER is its use of a QALY (kwah-lee) standard in its value assessments.

QALY stands for "Quality-Adjusted Life Year" and is an older economic tool used to quantify the net value of a treatment by determining how its cost corresponds to the potential benefit. QALYs are used to assess whether the cost of a treatment corresponds to the potential benefits to the patient. It creates a formula that includes quality of life and quantity of life. The assumptions QALYs make about "quality of life" are subjective, and discriminate against patients based on age, disability, and chronic conditions.

Let's take Jane Doe. She's 55 years old, she's developed cancer. Her treatment is probably going to cost \$125,000 a year. But QALYs say that she's only worth \$100,000. And that she shouldn't be getting the treatment at all, it's just denied. That's wrong, totally wrong."

~ Tony Coehlo, Patient Rights Advocate & Former Congressman

<u>EMPLOYERS CAN</u> avoid value assessments based on the Quality-Adjusted Life Year (QALY), such as those conducted by the Institute for Clinical and Economic Research (ICER). Don't use these discriminatory metrics when designing a formulary or assigning drugs to tiers.



24

Scan the QR code to view a short video about QALYbased value assessments.

Also available at BetterRxBenefits.org

What is step therapy?

Step therapy, sometimes referred to as a "fail-first" protocol, requires patients to use treatments on lower formulary tiers (usually generics or preferred drugs that provide cost-savings to the insurer or larger rebates to the PBM) before being approved for drugs in higher tiers or, in some cases, drugs not included in the formulary. Patients and their physicians must demonstrate that the required treatment has "failed" before the insurer will authorize coverage for the treatment originally prescribed.

The step therapy approach is intended to address the rapidly rising costs of healthcare by lowering or maintaining costs for the insurer and the patient. "Lower costs" may only apply to the PBM and insurer, however; for patients, step therapy can mean added out-of-pocket expenses, as well as significant burdens on their time and well-being.

Concerns regarding step therapy

While encouraging the use of generic or lower-cost alternatives may sound positive, step therapy is a flawed system that can put patients at risk. Some insurers even require patients to "re-try" drugs that already failed or worsened their condition in the past. As health policy expert Robert Popovian, PharmD, MS notes, "There is no empirical evidence that step therapy reduces overall healthcare costs and [offers] improvements in patient outcomes short or long term. Insurers or PBMs and their clinical staff have never explained what it means to fail. Should a patient suffer from worsening disease symptoms or side effects, or maybe be hospitalized? Insurers and PBMs also unnecessarily demand that providers justify every single intervention they utilize, through mounds of paperwork."⁵³

Delayed, disrupted and denied treatment due to step therapy causes serious harm in the time-sensitive fight against cancer and other aggressive diseases. It can also cause serious side effects and major setbacks in managing chronic illnesses, as well as significant impacts on employee productivity and presenteeism. For example, Virginia Maxwell and her son have pityriasis rubra pilaris (PRP), an auto-immune disorder that causes inflammation and scaling of the skin, which can lead to bleeding sores and infection. While Virginia can successfully manage her PRP with an injectable drug, the family's health plan required her son to try other treatments first before he, too, could be approved for the injectable medication. This approach resulted in a deteriorating condition so severe that he missed school and suffered extreme pain and discomfort.⁵⁴

Expensive cancer drugs are often targets of step therapy. Yet many oncology drugs do not have substitutes that are both equally effective and less costly. When cancer patients don't get the right drug at the right time, the length of illness can increase.⁵⁵ One study found that breast cancer patients who endured a three-month or more delay in treatment had a 12% lower five-year survival rate. The uncertain process of waiting for lesser drugs to fail can take weeks or months. Additionally, step therapy has been shown to reduce the longterm effectiveness of treatment.⁵⁶

Advances in treatment may outpace coverage decisions, putting step therapy out of sync with best practices.

FOR EXAMPLE:

In 2019 the FDA approved a new **first-line treatment** for patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma.

Many step therapy protocols, however, still require an older drug be tried first, based on outdated guidelines—even though updated research indicates far better outcomes with the newer medication.

3

The true cost of "saving" money

Studies show that the money insurers save through step therapy comes at the expense of patients' health and financial well-being.

The step therapy process pushes some patients to abandon beneficial drug treatment. A 2009 study looked at patients with bipolar disorder who were required by insurance to use pre-authorized drugs in place of the medications prescribed by their clinicians. Initially, the use of the pre-authorized drugs showed a cost savings to the health plan. But a closer look at the data revealed the "savings" corresponded to patients who stopped treatment altogether when faced with a different medication than what their doctor prescribed.⁵⁷

Step therapy can also create unexpected out-of-pocket costs for patients, since they are required to pay a copay for the pre-authorized drug and then another copay once the drug preferred by their doctor is finally approved. In addition, some plans require the use of brand-name drugs that are on a formulary's lower tiers due to the bigger rebates their manufacturers offer. While PBMs and insurers profit from these rebates, patients in high deductible plans may end up burdened with the full out-of-pocket costs associated with a brand-name drug's higher price. It's well known that higher out-of-pocket costs are associated with increased rates of treatment abandonment.

The use of step therapy can also result in loss of income, lost time at work or in school and other social and economic burdens. One study looked at data from employers who implemented step therapy and compared it to employers who did not, to understand the effects of step therapy on patients taking antihypertensive drugs.

Initial results showed a reduction in costs from the step therapy group; over time, however, there was a marked increase in those patients' healthcare costs, due to hospital and emergency room visits. In other words, step therapy may create barriers to effective care, which ultimately results in worsening health and higher treatment costs, as well as presenteeism and reduced productivity.

The practice of step therapy has been condemned by:

the American Medical Association, the American Society of Clinical Oncology and other leading medical organizations.

Critics argue that step therapy prevents doctors from making treatment decisions based on clinical information and puts centralized cost-saving policies ahead of patients' specific needs. Others note that step therapy takes too narrow a view of what constitutes "cost," ignoring long-term costs for care and the physical and emotional costs levied on patients.

The proposed Safe Step Act would place federal restrictions on step therapy and create a streamlined process for patients and their healthcare providers to request exceptions. Among its restrictions, the Act would protect patients from having to re-try treatments that previously failed or try new treatments when a prescribed drug has stabilized their condition. As of August 2021, 29 states have already passed laws limiting or regulating step therapy.



CASE STUDY

Justin Williams Atlanta, Georgia **Polymyositis**



In 2015, I was an average 28-year-old until I woke up on my bathroom floor after passing out unexpectedly. That moment changed the course of my life. I scheduled a doctor's appointment, where several tests were run that ultimately led to my diagnosis of polymyositis, an inflammatory disease that causes severe muscle weakness.

The tests showed extremely high levels of creatine kinase (CK)—my number was off the charts. For reference, my test said my level was 6752 when the average levels are between 24.0 - 204U/L. High levels of creatine kinase indicate muscle deterioration. My doctor was thrilled that I had come in so quickly after experiencing my symptoms so we could attack the disease immediately. Other symptoms had shown themselves that I wasn't so quick to notice: I couldn't lift things over my head, I couldn't do push-ups, I was barely able to get myself out of bed and I was having trouble swallowing liquids and most food.

Immediately upon my diagnosis, my doctor knew what to prescribe: a rituximab infusion. The infusion would only have to be done once every two years and would significantly reduce my CK levels. I have health insurance through my employer, but they denied the claim. The insurance has a step therapy policy that forces patients to try less effective, cheaper medication before the pricier, effective drug.

I was prescribed the next best option, prednisone. In addition to the prednisone, I was put on seven other medications to balance out the intense side effects caused. My face swelled up, my body was so inflamed that I couldn't sleep for more than two hours a night, and I became extremely irritable. My job was in jeopardy because I was so unlike myself. I couldn't think clearly and had to cut my workload. I was like a zombie. After about six months of hardly sleeping and dealing with these difficult side effects, it got to a point where I was crumbling. There was one day when I found myself suffering from shortness of breath and felt a panic attack coming on. This drove me to check into the hospital for a second time, where the doctor said I had what is known as "athlete heart syndrome." This is when the heart never really has a chance to rest; it's always working at full capacity. It's extremely dangerous and can contribute to further issues down the line.

It was clear the prednisone wasn't working. I started out on a high dosage of the prednisone, but extensive time on a high dose will cause other issues. Over time, I dropped to 10mg with little success in my levels and several other health challenges. At this point, my healthcare team requested my insurance to cover the infusion once again. They finally approved it after months of suffering.

Upon my first infusion of rituximab, my CK levels started to drop significantly. It wasn't until about four to five months later that I began to feel relief from my symptoms. I'm now at the lowest creatine levels I've seen: 484. I have continued to get the infusion every two years and it has helped. I only wish I never had to go through the step therapy process at the beginning; that was one of the most challenging times of my life. Thankfully my mother, Gabrielle Jones, was by my side and fighting along with me every step of the way.

Step Therapy: (also: fail-first therapy)

Refers to a situation when the physician prescribes one drug, and the health plan requires the patient to try a less expensive drug first – in effect overruling the treating physician.

Only after the drug fails to help the patient will the plan cover the drug that was initially prescribed. Patients can be required to try multiple cheaper drugs in a process that takes weeks, months, or even longer. That's why this policy is also sometimes called "fail-first" therapy.

FOR CANCER PATIENTS, STEP THERAPY ALTHOUGH INSURERS USE STEP THERAPY AS **CAN CAUSE:** A COST-SAVING TOOL. IT CAN: REDUCTION HARMFUL DELAYS INCREASE PROLONG in effectiveness of a out-of-pocket treatment & lead to in receiving prescribed treatment plan effective care expenses for patients worse outcomes

Step therapy, while there may be a time and place for it, really isn't beneficial to those of us who are hurting and need specific medications to live daily life. Doctors, administrators and pharmacists who have no experience treating specific diseases are calling the shots and determining the pre-authorizations required for certain medications. We need specialized experts determining what medications are best for treating our individual cases."



Heidi Barrett, Psoriatic Arthritis

EMPLOYERS SHOULD NOT allow step therapy to be included in prescription coverage plans.

If that's not possible, they should adopt limits such as those in the "Safe Step Act." They will protect patients who are most likely to suffer significant harm from taking medications other than what their doctor has prescribed. Scan the QR code

to view a short video about step therapy.



Also available at BetterRxBenefits.org

CASE STUDY

Heidi Barrett Everett, Washington Psoriatic arthritis



I suffer from psoriatic arthritis. I also have five children and a husband, all of whom have at least one auto-immune disease. Our family receives health insurance through my husband's employer and I only recently have been able to return back to work, which was critical due to the rising cost of my family's medical care. I am a family law paralegal.

All of our family members who suffer from this disease had been on a medication we found successful: Remicade. It falls under a class of drugs called biologics. We sort of have a "science experiment" going on within our family, where one person tries a medication, finds success, and the others follow suit. Without this drug, my family would be in wheelchairs from our pain and may not even be alive.

The insurance provider denied the medication, despite the knowledge that it would help me. Enforcing a policy called step therapy, the insurance company forced me to try other, cheaper medications first. If those medications "fail," the insurance company will then approve the more expensive, effective medication. Of course, these medications do fail and it results in extra hospital visits, vomiting, pneumonia and strep throat while the patient is on them. Eventually, I received approval for Remicade and reached a point where I had worked my way up to a high dose, which had been truly helpful for me.

Out of nowhere, our health insurance decided they no longer wanted to pay for this life-saving medication and pulled it out from under me, citing expenses. They said I could restart the Remicade at a low dose, as part of step therapy. That was not an option for me because biologics like Remicade can cause life-threatening drug interactions if they are reintroduced at a low dosage. It's extremely dangerous and not recommended. Our hands were tied. My only option was switching to a drug called Simponi, which is about 80% as effective as Remicade. This turned out to be the lesser of two evils, so we had to move forward with it. Unfortunately, my dose wasn't enough to compensate for my symptoms, and if I were to get the infusion as frequently as needed to compensate for the reduced efficacy, it would cost \$6,000 out of pocket each time. I was in so much pain when I first switched to Simponi that I barely left the house and even had to use a cane for about six months. Had our insurance decided to continue my care and cover the high dose of Remicade, I could have avoided this severe pain and suffering.

Step therapy, while there may be a time and place for it, really isn't beneficial to those of us who are hurting and need specific medications to live daily life. Doctors, administrators and pharmacists who have no experience treating specific diseases are calling the shots and determining the pre-authorizations required for certain medications. We need specialized experts determining what medications are best for treating our individual cases.

Not only have we had to deal with bankruptcy due to the restrictions in our health insurance plan, but step therapy has caused additional, unnecessary painful days for our family and has put us in life-or-death situations. I only fear what will happen to my younger children when they turn 26 and have to navigate these scary insurance policies on their own.
What are specialty pharmacies?

Specialty pharmacies focus on medications for complex, chronic or rare medical conditions, including cancer. These drugs require extra care to dispense safely. They may need temperature-controlled storage or special handling, delivery by injection or infusion, or on-going patient monitoring. For cancer patients, specialty pharmacies can help coordinate the shipment of chemotherapeutics and the logistics of how they'll be administered.

While there is no official licensure to designate specialty pharmacies, some seek accreditation from independent organizations, such as the Center for Pharmacy Practice Accreditation or the Accreditation Commission for Health Care, to demonstrate their high quality of care. Not all specialty pharmacies offer the same level of patient support. While some specialty pharmacies increase access to treatment, others serve as an extension of insurers' restrictive utilization management practices.

Why do insurers use specialty pharmacies?

Since the 1990s, the rise of new specialty drugs—and their costs—has turned once-niche specialty pharmacies into a growing industry. Their services have attracted insurance providers, pharmacy benefit managers and

drug manufacturers who see the profit potential. Insurers and PBMs negotiate contracts with, own or control specialty pharmacies to serve as designated providers for their health plans. The pharmacy agrees to reimbursement rates that are more profitable for the insurer or PBM, in exchange



for access to a larger pool of patients. On the other side of the supply chain, some drug manufacturers set up contracts that grant a few pharmacies exclusive access to carry their products, helping to control pricing and ensure safe delivery of sensitive medications.^{58, 59}

Concerns about specialty pharmacies

When health plans require that patients use specific specialty pharmacies, it limits their choice as consumers. Further, while some specialty pharmacies offer expert personalized service, a growing number of insurer-designated pharmacies operate entirely through the mail. Patients report difficulties refilling prescriptions, suffer long waits to reach customer service representatives and experience life-threatening shipment delays and dosage errors for critical drugs. Consumer Watchdog, a consumer advocacy group, has sued several insurance providers on behalf of patients taking HIV medications, alleging that restrictive specialty pharmacy requirements were discriminatory.

When drug manufacturers limit which pharmacies carry their specialty products, patients and their clinicians may need to coordinate with multiple pharmacies to fill their prescriptions.⁵⁸ Worse, they may discover that the drug best suited to a patient's treatment is not carried by the pharmacies in their insurer's network.⁶⁰

Critics question whether the tight network of specialty pharmacies, drug manufacturers, PBMs and insurers puts profits above patients.

> In 2020, the three largest PBMs—CVS Caremark, Express Scripts and OptumRx, all owned by health insurers—processed 85% of all prescription claims and handled drug benefits for more than 266 million Americans.⁷ Insurers can require patients to fill prescriptions at a pharmacy they run, while also setting patient copay rates and out-of-

pocket caps. Some patient advocates worry this poses a conflict of interest that acts as a disincentive for insurers and PBMs to keep costs low for patients. ^{7,61}

4

Specialty Pharmacies:

Provide medications for patients with complex and chronic health conditions, including cancer.



When health plans require that patients use specific specialty pharmacies, it limits their choice as consumers.

Plus, critics question whether the tight network of specialty pharmacies, drug manufacturers,

PBMs and insurers puts profits above patients.



Further, while some specialty pharmacies offer expert personalized service, a growing number of insurer-designated pharmacies operate entirely through the mail.

Not all specialty pharmacies offer the same level of patient support. While some specialty pharmacies increase access to treatment, others serve as an extension of insurers' restrictive utilization management practices. When drug manufacturers limit which pharmacies carry their specialty products, patients and their clinicians may need to coordinate with multiple pharmacies to fill their prescriptions.

EMPLOYERS CAN address this by selecting or designing health plans that **open pharmacy options for consumers and patients.**



What are copay accumulator programs?

Copay accumulator programs, a recent addition to the insurance UM landscape, radically change the way patients with serious conditions pay for medications. Patients taking high-cost drugs often rely on drug manufacturer coupons or funds from charities like CancerCare to cover expenses their pharmacy benefits do not. Typically, the dollar amount of this copay support counts towards the patient's annual out-of-pocket spending maximum and moves them closer to reaching their deductible. But under copay accumulator programs, insurers no longer count copay support toward a patient's out-of-pocket maximum and deductible.

This means it takes patients longer and costs them more to reach the point where insurance helps pay for covered drugs. And when copay support is no longer available, the patient must pay their copay in full until their deductible is finally met. This can be hundreds to thousands of dollars, even for a single prescribed medication.

Ultimately, copay accumulator programs are

"only adding more financial strain for patients who may be facing hardships due to the coronavirus pandemic's impact on jobs and family budgets."62

Image: The AIDS Institute

Out-of-Pocket maximum is met

Monthly medication cost: \$1,680

- Plan deductible: \$4,600
- Annual out-of-pocket maximum: \$8,550
- Copay assistance total: \$7,200 Cost-sharing for specialty tier prescription: 50% after deductible is met

	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Total	Insurer collects
Copay Assistance	\$1,680	\$1,680	\$1,240	\$840	\$840	\$840	\$80	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$7,200	
Remaining Deductible	\$2,920	\$1,240	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0		\$8,550
Consumer Pays	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$760	\$590	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$1,350	

Copay assistance limit is met

Scenario 2: Plan With a Copay Accumulator Program

Deductible is met

	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Total	Insurer collects
Copay Assistance	\$1,680	\$1,680	\$1,680	\$1,680	\$480	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$7,200	
Remaining Deductible	\$4,600	\$4,600	\$4,600	\$4,600	\$3,400	\$1,720	\$40	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0		\$15,160
Consumer Pays	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$1,200	\$1,680	\$1,680	\$40	\$840	\$840	\$840	\$840	\$7,960	

5

Copay Accumulator Programs

Patients who receive copay support report being caught offguard by the new accumulator policies. Consider this: for the first few months of the year, you fill your prescription for a drug that is in a high cost-share tier, contributing \$20 toward each copay and using a manufacturer copay coupon to cover the rest. Then, when you pick up your prescription in April, you're told you owe \$3,000. You've used up the coupon, your deductible has not yet been met and you're now solely responsible for the prescription's full monthly cost-share amount. When that happens, you have three choices: scramble to cover the unexpected cost; contact your physician to find a lower-cost treatment, which may not be possible; or walk away without the medication.

"Copay accumulator adjustment policies put patients with chronic conditions in a tough position—

forcing them to choose between their health and other financial obligations."⁶²

With more than one-third of commercially insured Americans in health plans that include a copay accumulator program of some form,⁶³ you might wonder how such a pivotal policy change could catch people by surprise. One reason is that health plans don't identify "copay accumulator programs" as such. Rather, insurers may refer to "coupon adjustment," "variable copayment," an "out-of-pocket maximum calculation process" or "pharmacy coupon adjustment changes"; others call it an "Out of Pocket Protection Program," "Benefit Plan Protection Program" or "Copay Card True Program Accumulation."^{64,63} There is no standard industry term used to help consumers quickly identify copay accumulator programs in action. In a survey by McKesson, 60% of patients believed copay accumulator programs were a benefit to them;⁶⁵ in reality, however, they benefit the health plan. The American Society of Clinical Oncologists agrees that the language used for copay accumulator programs is misleading: "While they are described as a benefit for patients, these programs in effect prevent patients from reaching their deductibles sooner. Copay accumulator programs generate large savings for employers and PBMs while increasing cost-sharing for patients."⁶⁶ Copay accumulator programs also provide insurers and PBMs with a financial boost, allowing them to "double dip" on deductibles. Even after the insurer collects the full deductible through a patient's manufacturer coupons or other financial assistance, they still require the patient to pay the deductible in full (again) out of their own pocket.

Concerns about copay accumulators

Insurers and PBMs argue that manufacturer coupons for brand-name drugs undermine formulary design and increase spending by undercutting the cost savings offered by generic drugs. By requiring that patients pay more for brand-name drugs without using copay support—in a sense, putting more "skin in the game"—insurers and PBMs believe patients will seek out lower-priced drug options. This rationale, however, is flawed in several ways.

First, the brand-name drugs that patients rely on may not have cheaper alternatives. One study found that the majority of brand-name drugs with copay coupons have no lowercost generic equivalents.⁶⁷ Many oncology drugs do not have substitutes that are both equally effective and less expensive for patients.

Second, many patients delay or abandon treatment when faced with higher cost sharing, leading to expensive medical complications later. Numerous studies have found that higher out-of-pocket costs are associated with lower rates of filling prescriptions, delays in refilling prescriptions, higher rates of not taking medications as prescribed or abandoning

5

them entirely.¹⁰ Patients who delay or abandon their drug treatment are at higher risk for expensive emergency care, avoidable hospitalizations and poorer health outcomes. Employers who choose health plans that use copay accumulators may see these costs reflected in increased illness-related absences and declines in productivity.

In contrast, improving drug coverage and reducing patients' out-of-pocket costs, including through the use of copay support, improves medication adherence and reduces the rate of expensive emergency care and hospitalization.^{68, 69}

Adam J. Fein, CEO of Drug Channels Institute, summarizes the situation this way: "Higher utilization of specialty drugs is usually considered a positive trend. That's because it's well established that pharmaceutical spending reduces medical spending and improves patients' health. Given the massive cost-shifting to patients, I expect that copay accumulators will reduce spending by decreasing the utilization of specialty drugs."⁷⁰ That is to say, short-term savings will come at the expense of patients' long-term health and survival.

Given the massive cost-shifting to patients, I expect that copay accumulators will reduce spending by decreasing the utilization of specialty drugs."

~ Adam J. Fein CEO of Drug Channels Institute

Meet the copay maximizer

To buffer the financial burden of copay accumulators, insurers have now started to adopt copay maximizer plans.⁷¹ Like an accumulator, a copay maximizer does not count copayment financial assistance toward the patient's deductible and out-of-pocket maximum. The difference is that maximizer plans apply the value of the coupon or charitable support evenly throughout the benefit year, rather than using it up and then abruptly shifting all costs to the patient, as the accumulator does. Depending on the

maximizer plan and type of copay support, some patients' out-of-pocket costs may be eliminated or so low that they never reach their annual deductible or maximum. A patient might still pay more overall than they did with copay support, but much less than they would under a copay accumulator.⁷⁰

While copay maximizer plans are more "patient friendly," some come with restrictive requirements. Under maximizer plans, insurers and PBMs set the copay amount for drugs at the maximum value of the copay support, rather than basing it on the drug's list price.⁷¹ So, a drug with a coupon that has a maximum annual value of \$20,000 would cost a patient \$20,000 annually to fillregardless of their plan's out-of-pocket maximums. To avoid that huge cost, patients have to enroll in the copay maximizer plan, which is handled by a separate business under contract with the insurer or PBM. These thirdparty businesses label high-cost specialty drugs as "nonessential health benefits," a designation that removes the out-of-pocket limits required by the Affordable Care Act to protect patients.⁷¹ Confusing? Pharmaceutical industry watchdogs agree.

Are copay accumulators legal?

Although Cancer*Care*, the American Medical Association, the American Society of Clinical Oncology and other leading medical organizations oppose copay accumulator programs, these plans received legal support from the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) in 2021 policy determinations.

Despite the CMS ruling, industry experts warn that copay accumulator programs may violate other federal laws that protect employees, patients and consumers, due to misrepresentation, lack of transparency, discriminatory practices, violations of patient privacy and out-of-pocket maximums. Employers that choose health plans with copay accumulator programs may be putting themselves at greater risk for liability.

Copay Accumulator Programs

The CMS ruling also leaves space for states to pass their own regulations on copay accumulator programs and, as policymakers recognize the harm of these practices, a growing number of states have moved to ban their use. As of July 2021, 11 states and Puerto Rico have enacted laws to restrict copay accumulator programs. Kentucky, for example, limits use by permitting accumulators only for drugs with generic alternatives, while granting doctors greater control to deem a brand-name drug medically necessary. However, state regulations do not extend to self-insured employer plans, so healthcare experts, physician groups and patient advocates strongly urge employers to reject or remove copay accumulators in their health plan design.

Image: NCODA Oncolytics Today Volume 3 No. 1 (Spring 2021)





Jen & Penny Hepworth Salt Lake City, Utah Ankylosing spondylitis & Cystic fibrosis

CASE STUDY

As a mother to two beautiful daughters and two wonderful stepsons, I want to provide a home filled with happy memories and vacations, but our medical costs have prevented us from doing so. Living with ankylosing spondylitis is not easy, and the combination of my disease and my daughter's cystic fibrosis wreaks financial havoc on our lives.

Ankylosing spondylitis is an autoimmune disease that affects my spine and all of my major joints. To stay healthy and avoid pain, I've been prescribed monthly immunosuppressants for years. On average, these cost about \$10,000 per month. I also take daily pills prescribed by my doctor.

In addition to my health challenges, my daughter was diagnosed with cystic fibrosis at three weeks old; she has two genetic mutations called DF508 and G551D. She was given a life expectancy of 41 years. As a parent, this is obviously something you never want to hear.

Of course, we wanted to throw everything we had at this disease to give our baby girl the best life possible. The doctors put her on a medication called Kalydeco at two years old. This medication costs \$300,000 annually. She's now eight and recently switched to a CFTR modulator called Trikafta, which nets out at \$311,000 a year.

As an average American family living north of Salt Lake City, Utah, we do not have the finances to cover the overwhelming cost of these medications. Despite the fact that my husband is a very successful engineer, we've never had the chance to enjoy his financial gains due to the policies enforced by his employer's insurance company. All I want is for our children to have positive family memories, but the monetary burden we carry from the insurance company continues to get in the way.

The state of Utah allows insurance companies like ours to use a copay accumulator. Without any background, it sounds like a positive policy for the insured. We quickly found out that was not the case. This policy is used by PBMs/insurance companies to decrease costs for the insurer and increase costs for the insured. When manufacturers offer discounts or coupons on medications, the insurance company prevents those discounts from applying to patients' deductibles and their maximum out-of-pocket spend. Since people end up paying much more than if the insurance company counted that support, the policy results in patients delaying or not seeking treatment.

Our family has struggled under this policy. Without modulator drugs, a CF patient can expect annual hospital stays up to 14 days long and routine respiratory clean outs as the baselinewhen symptoms present themselves, it only results in more doctors and more treatments. This all adds up. For our family, the only way we've been able to keep our daughter's hospital visits to a minimum is to keep her on these expensive drugs. The only way we've been able to maintain access to these drugs is through financial aid from a multitude of sources. Between the two of us, we see rheumatologists, EMTs, a pulmonologist, a gastroenterologist, a social worker, a dietitian and a respiratory therapist on a regular basis. Not to mention the daily pills and monthly injections that help us function. The financial burden of these treatments and the lack of support from our insurance company has us living paycheck-to-paycheck.

We're not the only ones to suffer under copay accumulators, many patients struggle to feed their families and have more severe situations than us. It's a challenging situation that could easily be changed if the insurance companies supported their beneficiaries instead of lining their own pockets.

Copay Accumulator Programs:

Radically change the way patients with serious conditions pay for medications. Under these programs, insurers no longer count copay support toward a patient's out-of-pocket maximum and deductible.

Coupons and other forms of copay assistance help many patients manage the prescription drug costs their insurers do not cover. For patients who rely on high-cost drugs, such as the ones used in cancer treatment, this support is truly critical.



The amount a lung cancer patient saved when using <u>coupons</u> to pay for his drugs (Seetasith, Arpamas, et. al., 2019) Typically, the dollar amount of a coupon or other form of copay assistance support counts toward the patient's annual deductible and out-of-pocket maximum just as though the money came from their own pocket.

A copay accumulator program prevents this.

Patients who rely on copay assistance report suddenly being faced with pharmacy bills of several thousand dollars for a single refill when they logically assume they have met their annual deductible or out-ofpocket cap.



We're not the only ones to suffer under copay accumulators—many patients struggle to feed their families and have more severe situations than us. It's a challenging situation that could easily be changed if the insurance companies supported their beneficiaries instead of lining their own pockets."

~ Jen Hepworth, Ankylosing Spondylitis

When employers review health plan benefits, they should be careful to avoid copay accumulators or maximizers.

They shift more costs to patients, who may have no other treatment options, and may abandon their treatment due to out-of-pocket expenses they cannot afford.



Scan the QR code to view a short video about copay accumulator programs.

Also available at BetterRxBenefits.org



The Appeals Process

When insurers deny coverage

At some point, nearly all cancer patients will find their insurance plan has denied coverage for a prescribed medical service (called a **claim**). It could be a test, treatment, scan, surgery, procedure, medication or other care. Patients then have to decide whether to appeal and petition their insurer to pay.

Patients who appeal insurance denials actually win coverage an estimated 50-60% of the time.⁷² Yet a review of 40.4 million claims denied by insurance companies in 2019 found that patients appealed only 0.2%.⁷³

Insurance companies have "built a business model around denials, knowing that people take 'No' for an answer," says Joanna Morales, a cancer rights attorney and CEO of Triage Cancer. "The worst-case scenario for the insurance company is that the patient actually appeals, and then it has to pay for the care it was supposed to pay for to begin with. Frankly, it benefits insurers to just deny everything and assume that patients aren't going to appeal, because most people don't."

Why are claims denied?

The majority of denials stem from administrative issues: mistakes in coding, missing forms, incomplete billing or patient info, duplicate or overlapping claims, and late submissions. Other denials are due to claims that don't follow the insurance plan's rules and limits: for instance, lack of proper pre-authorization or exclusion from coverage altogether.

A small number of claims, though significant for cancer patients, are denied based on their perceived medical value as "unproven," "experimental," "investigational" or deemed "not medically necessary" for a patient's condition. Yet, insurer assessment may not (intentionally, perhaps) be keeping pace with cancer care innovation and increasingly customized treatments. Proton therapy, for instance, is a newer alternative to traditional radiation therapy that limits damage to healthy tissue while targeting cancer cells. For some patients with brain tumors, it could be an optimal treatment. But many major insurers refuse to cover proton therapy. ⁷⁴

The U.S. Inspector General recently probed the efficacy and accuracy of denials in an audit of Medicare Part D insurers. In 2017, 35% of pre-authorization requests for medications were initially denied.

Among the denied requests that patients appealed, insurers later approved a whopping 73%—"suggesting that many initial denials of coverage are inappropriate."²⁸

Surprisingly, receiving pre-authorization for care is not a guarantee that an insurer will pay for it. A pre-approved claim may be rejected later: a "retrospective denial." With pre-authorization requirements on the rise, so are cases of retrospective denials that leave patients with hefty surprise bills. These denials can happen when the insurer objects to how billing was handled, indicates the procedure was performed too long after approval was granted, or determines after further review that the care was not medically necessary.⁷⁵

Designing benefits with stronger coverage and fewer UM controls—that is, health plans that avoid restricted formularies, heavy pre-authorization requirements and step therapy protocols—helps to reduce the number of denials employees encounter. 6

The Appeals Process

What it takes to appeal: the added cost of time & stress

To tackle an appeal, a patient (or their loved ones) must be proactive, persistent, thorough and able to withstand the stress and uncertainty of the process, on top of the stress and uncertainty of their illness. Patients often need to relay information between their doctor and the insurer to coordinate numerous details; for example, making sure any related bills aren't sent to a collection agency, which would hurt the patient's credit rating.

In the best case scenario, patients may be able to resolve administrative issues with an insurance representative over the phone—most likely after several lengthy calls and resubmit the claim without going through a formal appeal. Other denials, particularly those regarding medical necessity, require a formal and often arduous written appeal and supporting evidence to make a strong case for coverage. It typically requires the healthcare team to gather documentation, which may include data from medical records and clinical studies, to back up the rationale for

> prescribed care. If a claim is still rejected after appealing, some plans allow for a second internal appeal, or a patient can file an external appeal with state-certified reviewers, independent from the insurer, who deliver a final decision.

> > Patients waiting on appeal decisions find themselves in healthcare limbo. Do they continue with treatment, not knowing how much they may have to pay? Or do they delay care, not knowing how their condition may worsen? It can take 30 days for preauthorization appeals to be adjudicated and 60 days for post-treatment appeals.

In emergency or critically time-sensitive cases, patients can start an external appeal at the same time as their internal appeal to expedite a final decision in a matter of days. Clear timelines for decisions are crucial. Some employers now have clauses that automatically require insurers to cover a prescription if an appeal decision is not delivered by a set time.

The Affordable Care Act (ACA), established in 2010, has helped lift some of the appeal-process burden from patients. Insurers in employer-sponsored health plans must disclose why a claim was denied. If a denied claim would stop or reduce a patient's on-going care, ACA requires that insurers cover treatment until the appeal is settled. (If the patient ultimately loses the appeal, they would need to cover the cost of that care—which could be substantial.)

Many physicians and healthcare advocacy groups argue that to reduce the need for appeals, the pre-authorization process and claim approvals should be more standardized and streamlined. Clinicians point to the "increasingly complicated criteria" and "unique contract requirements" that vary from health plan to health plan. As one healthcare professional put it, "It's time, it's energy, it's effort. It's relentless."⁷⁶

Insurance companies have built a business model around denials, knowing that people take 'No' for an answer."

~ Joanna Morales Cancer rights attorney & CEO of Triage Cancer

The Appeals Process:

When cancer patients are denied coverage for treatment (called a claim) by their insurance company, patients then have to decide whether to appeal and petition their insurer to pay.

Insurers may deny coverage—that is, refuse to pay for care—for a variety of reasons, ranging from billing code errors to treatments deemed "experimental" or "not medically necessary."

50%-60%

Patients who appeal insurance denials actually **win coverage**.

(US GOVT ACCOUNTABILITY OFFICE, 2011)

THE REALITY, HOWEVER, IS:



Most patients don't appeal. For employers, denials rarely save them money, because the burdensome appeal process creates greater medical costs down the road by needlessly delaying care for their employees.

IN 2019,



TO TACKLE AN APPEAL,

A patient (or their loved ones) must be **proactive, persistent, thorough** and able to withstand the stress and uncertainty of the process, on top of the stress and uncertainty of their illness.

Insurance companies have built a business model around denials, knowing that people take 'No' for an answer... the worst-case scenario for the insurance company is that the patient actually appeals, and then it has to pay for the care it was supposed to pay for to begin with."

~ Joanna Morales, Cancer Rights Attorney & CEO of Triage Cancer

EMPLOYERS CAN address this by selecting or designing health plans that streamline the approval and pre-authorization process from the start, before appeals are needed.

Financial Non-adherence

Cancer is expensive. When a patient learns they have cancer, the first concerns are about treatment and prognosis. As the patient begins treatment, however, they quickly wonder how much this will cost. A 2018 ASCO survey revealed that in the face of a cancer diagnosis, Americans would consider financial cost more worrisome than death.⁷⁷

Direct out-of-pocket costs include deductibles, coinsurance and copayments for services covered by insurance, plus all costs for services that are not covered. For cancer patients and their families, that's just the tip of the financial iceberg. The indirect costs of cancer include transportation to medical appointments, caregivers for the patient, child and/or elder care, pet care, special diets, cosmetic and over-the-counter items, mental health services, complementary therapies, lost work hours, disability and job loss.

Nearly \$4 Billion

The amount patients paid in outof-pocket costs of the \$87.8 billion spent nationally on cancer-related healthcare in 2014.⁷⁸

\$1,000-\$10,000

The annual range of individual outof-pocket healthcare spending for the majority of cancer patients surveyed in 2019.

20%

The percentage of cancer patients that paid more than \$20,000.¹⁴

The high and on-going costs of cancer can lead to a state of financial toxicity, an umbrella term describing all the financial side effects patients and families suffer during treatment. Nearly 50% of cancer patients experience financial distress, which is associated with decreased health-related quality of life. In a review of bankruptcies, researchers found that 62% were due to medical debt, despite three-quarters of those in debt having health insurance. Another study found that cancer patients were nearly three times more likely to declare bankruptcy than people without cancer.⁷⁹

Financial stress can directly impact a patient's survival. In a 2021 study, patients who reported "significant financial worry" at the start of treatment were "twice as likely to experience poor outcomes"; their risk of dying was roughly double that of otherwise similar patients.⁸⁰ Researchers have also found that cancer patients who declare bankruptcy are nearly 80% more likely to die than patients who don't, with even higher mortality rates for some cancers. Possible contributing factors range from increased stress to delayed, skipped or terminated treatments due to cost⁸¹—an all-toocommon issue labeled **financial non-adherence**.

A large, national study published by Cancer*Care* in 2016 found that many patients, especially those aged 25 to 54 years, took steps to reduce their healthcare costs, some of which may have compromised their cancer treatment:

- \rightarrow **39%** skipped doctors' appointments.
- → 38% postponed or did not fill prescriptions.
- → 34% skipped doses of prescribed drugs.
- → 30% ordered medication from non-U.S. sources.
- → 31% cut pills in half.⁸²

7

Financial non-adherence also impacts the management of chronic conditions. Non-adherence among patients with diabetes, for example, can lead to serious and costly complications, including nearly double the healthcare costs, higher hospitalization rates and an increased risk of death. ^{83, 84}

Patients with higher financial burdens are nearly twice as likely to delay taking or opt not to take prescribed medication.¹¹

One study found that prescriptions with **\$40-\$50 copayments were 3-5x more likely** to be abandoned at the pharmacy than prescriptions with no copayments.⁹

Overall, financial non-adherence is associated with worse outcomes, disease progression, increased emergency care and higher hospitalization rates. Employers may see the effects in higher medical costs, as well as higher rates of absenteeism and presenteeism.

Researchers note that "it is important to educate patients that saving some money today by non-adherence to treatment may mean spending much more money in the future."⁸⁴ This lesson is also true for employers: making care more accessible from the start improves outcomes by multiple measures, speeding recovery, improving productivity and reducing further medical costs for patients and the health plan. Experts agree that ensuring patients have access to affordable, adequate health insurance is the key to avoiding financial toxicity, and companies can improve outcomes starting with

the choices they make about health plan design. Lower deductibles and reduced copays for medications improve adherence and outcomes, reduce costs in the long run, and support employee retention, productivity and satisfaction.

Making out-of-pocket costs more manageable

To address financial non-adherence, employers can use alternative payment structures that make prescription costs more manageable for employees-instead of the budget-blowing shock of owing thousands of dollars in one pharmacy visit. One option is to create monthly caps for out-of-pocket spending, in addition to setting an annual maximum. Another option, commonly referred to as "smoothing," allows employees to split large bills into smaller payments they can make over time. Many patients with cancer and chronic conditions face large out-of-pocket costs at the start of the plan year, before reaching their deductible and maximum; smoothing turns those major up-front costs into more manageable and predictable monthly payments. A smoothing option has been proposed as part of federal policy for Medicare drug plans.85 CancerCare, the Patient Access Network and other leading health advocacy groups call on "Congress, insurers, and other stakeholders [to] modify the structure of public and private insurance plans to spread out-ofpocket costs for prescription medications evenly over the course of the year so that patients can access and remain on the treatments they need."86

Employers can also include "copay only" prescription drug plans among the insurance options offered to employees. These plans guarantee fixed copays for prescription drugs at every formulary tier and avoid the use of coinsurance. With coinsurance, patients pay a percentage of a medication's price, which means their out-of-pocket costs can vary significantly. Coinsurance is often calculated from a drug's full, pre-rebate list price, so patients also end up paying more—especially those who rely on high-cost specialty drugs. Copay-only plans keep

Financial Non-adherence

out-of-pocket costs lower and "provide more transparent and predictable cost sharing"⁸⁷ that helps to ease the financial uncertainty of filling prescriptions. Copay-only design is now part of all standardized health plans offered through the Massachusetts insurance marketplace.⁸⁸

Addressing High Deductible Health Plans

High Deductible Health Plans (HDHPs) have become increasingly common among employer-sponsored plans. As the name suggests, employees in a HDHP plan are required to pay a high deductible (at minimum \$1,400 for individuals or \$2,800 for families) before the plan starts contributing to their healthcare coverage. The upside is a lower monthly premium, which appeals to some employers and employees alike. While HDHPs may work well for people in good health with low healthcare costs, they can be inadequate for those with greater healthcare needs or lower incomes. In a 2019 survey by the Kaiser Family Foundation and the LA Times, two-thirds of the respondents in HDHPs did not feel confident they could cover the costs of a major illness for a family member with a chronic health condition.⁸⁹

Employers can help employees with HDHPs manage costs by pairing them with Health Savings Accounts (HSAs). HSAs allow enrollees to set aside tax-exempt money for medical expenses. Employers can also make pretax contributions to these accounts. HSAs are subject to very explicit IRS regulations and only specific types of HDHPs are qualified to be paired with an HSA.

HDHPs with HSAs can also cover some preventive care benefits even before employees meet their deductible. In 2019, the IRS expanded the list of eligible pre-deductible services to include certain treatments for chronic conditions such as heart failure, heart disease, asthma or diabetes. There is evidence that covering these treatments and services with no cost sharing is beneficial to enrollees in many ways, showing lower rates of treatment nonadherence, improved patient health and reduced financial costs to patients, which in turn can lower downstream healthcare costs. In the first year following the new IRS rules, 20% of employers with HDHPs waived some cost sharing for prescription drugs so that employees with chronic illnesses would be more likely to take their medications as prescribed. Among employers with 5,000 or more employees, nearly half expanded the services or products that individuals with chronic conditions could receive before meeting annual deductibles requirements.⁹⁰



Rita Anderson Colchester, Connecticut Stage III breast cancer

CASE STUDY

I was diagnosed with Stage III breast cancer at the onset of the pandemic, in March 2020. I was 47 years old, divorced and taking care of my youngest children and frail mother. Battling cancer quickly became my priority, but soon this was halted due to a lack of support from my insurance company.

While the severity of my condition required immediate surgery, my operation had to be postponed because of the pandemic. So, I started with chemotherapy for the time being. Luckily, I was able to have the surgery six months later, but the medical team wasn't able to remove all of the cancer. From there, I really started to worry about my future, as the cancer could still be growing and spreading. The oncologist had me start radiation every single day for two months, until I was prescribed my oral chemotherapy at the start of 2021. I had to take medical leave for the entire year and had to use my 401(k) to survive and support my family.

Every year, my employer made us switch insurance companies, and the new company was extremely resistant to helping me through my cancer journey. I discovered this when I went to pick up my prescription: despite paying \$670 per month for insurance, they guoted me \$3,005 for my first month of oral chemotherapy. Like most patients, I did not have the funds for this, as it was my entire deductible. I spent hours on the phone with different associates at the insurance company, but they would not budge on the cost or even consider a payment plan to grant me access to a life-saving treatment. I asked my employer for help, since I worked at a pharmacy. I even sought assistance from a cancer patient fund, but no one could financially support me. My insurance company ultimately denied my claim. As a result, I couldn't go on my medications as prescribed. This caused a panic—both for me and my oncologist.

After two months without the chemotherapy drug, my oncologist had me try everything. Every doctor's appointment I had started with, "How much is this going to cost? Will it go towards my deductible?" I attempted to get a prescription through my general practitioner, but there were complications. I called so many people, but it was just a waiting game at that point. It was beyond frightening. Finally, with urging from my oncologist, I reached out to drug manufacturers directly. This ended up being the route that worked, but it wasn't without its challenges. The Xeloda drug finally came in April 2021.

The most shocking part of the entire process was learning from my doctor that this kind of treatment delay due to cost was entirely normal for patients. The insurance companies have such a hold on patients through deductibles and other expenses, that they end up forcing patients to miss out on actively fighting their disease.

Having had two months where I couldn't do anything to fight the cancer in my body has been mentally challenging as well. It is so frustrating knowing that I could have been set up in a better situation for my health, but issues with my health insurance stopped me from doing so. This drug is lifesaving, and I want to do everything to be able to have a great life with my family. I'm still fighting to this day and doing my best, while also hoping for no additional insurance challenges.

Financial Non-adherence:

An issue commonly referred to as "financial non-adherence" is when high prescription copays and other out-of-pocket fees impact patients' use of medications.

In recent years, health plans have shifted more and more of the costs for prescription drugs onto patients.



Abandoned prescriptions out of those with the highest out-of-pocket costs (Doshi, Jalpa A., et al., 2017)

Many patients took steps to reduce their healthcare costs:

39% Skipped doctors' appointments
38% Postponed or did not fill prescriptions
34% Skipped doses of prescribed drugs
30% Ordered medication from non-US sources
31% Cut pills in half (CancerCare Patient Access and Engagement Report, 2016)

OUT-OF-POCKET COSTS KEEP GOING UP:

\$

Patients face higher copays or coinsurance rates to fill prescriptions and must reach a higher deductible before insurance covers part of the cost.

ONE STUDY FOUND THAT PRESCRIPTIONS WITH

\$40-\$50 copays were 3-5x more likely

to be abandoned at the pharmacy than prescriptions with <u>NO copays</u>.

(Shrank, William H., et al., 2010)

The most shocking part of the entire process was learning from my doctor that this kind of treatment delay due to cost was entirely normal for patients. The insurance companies have such a hold on patients through deductibles and other expenses, that they end up forcing patients to miss out on actively fighting their disease."

~ Rita Anderson, *Breast Cancer*

<u>EMPLOYERS CAN</u> help curb financial non-adherence by choosing benefit plans that avoid high copays and other cost-sharing burdens, particularly for drugs that manage chronic conditions and serious illnesses like cancer.



Scan the QR code to view a short video about financial non-adherence. Also available at *BetterRxBenefits.org*



Key Take-Aways for Benefit Design

The evidence is very clear that common utilization management practices can negatively impact patients, particularly those with cancer and other serious conditions, in numerous ways:

- → Delaying, disrupting or denying necessary and time-sensitive care
- → Increasing out-of-pocket prescription costs, which can drive treatment non-adherence and result in long-term financial problems
- → Adding time-consuming administrative burdens for patients and healthcare providers
- → **Creating barriers** to receiving personalized care
- → Devaluing what matters to patients regarding their care and quality of life

Because nearly two million Americans receive a new cancer diagnosis each year and many more manage chronic conditions, such as the roughly 34.2 million adults living with diabetes, it is critical that these areas of concern are addressed when designing a company's health benefits package. Ultimately, a quality prescription coverage plan not only benefits patients, but employers, too: it can support productivity, help reduce long-term medical spending, attract and retain talented employees and build satisfaction and loyalty by demonstrating that the company values its staff.

To help inform the benefits package design and decisionmaking process, here are key considerations when looking at plans that include utilization management. In Section 2 of the booklet, you'll find best practice recommendations and questions that will help you evaluate health plan options based on these considerations.

Pre-authorization:

Pre-authorization policies can cause delays in treatment or limit access. They can also be extremely time consuming for clinical staff. Both the American Society of Clinical Oncology and the American Medical Association have published recommendations to help payers limit the barriers to care created by PA.^{91, 37} The highest priority is given to eliminating delays to care, with multiple recommendations to revise and streamline the burdensome processes currently in place

Formulary Design:

Many drug therapies used to treat cancer are placed on the highest or specialty tier of formularies, often requiring patients to pay higher out-of-pocket costs to access them. These drugs may provide the best treatment option for patients, and, in many cases, a comparable lower-cost option does not exist.⁹¹

To address this, some employers have eliminated cost-sharing for medications or supplies related to chronic illnesses; some have also made coverage available for these services and treatments before employees reach their deductibles, a change supported by new IRS designations for "preventive care."⁹⁰

Formulary design should not be guided by value assessments that use the Quality-Adjusted Life Year (QALYs), such as the ICER model, due to their discriminatory nature. Further, mid-year formulary changes should be avoided, as they disrupt care, can require patients to change medications even though there is no clinical reason (i.e. non-medical switching) and can also result in higher out-of-pocket costs.

Step Therapy:

Step therapy not only delays care for patients with cancer, but can prevent those patients from accessing the best treatments available for their specific case and condition. Many leading medical organizations have called on insurers and PBMs to eliminate the use of step therapy.

Cost Sharing:

Health insurance does not eliminate financial distress among cancer patients. More and more, costs are being shifted to patients, increasing the financial burden and putting them at risk of financial toxicity. It's important to ask for clear and specific details on how cost sharing is structured: for instance, copay accumulators and similar practices do not have industry-standard names.

Pharmacy Benefit Plan Recommendations

This section outlines practical steps employers may be able to take to address common utilization management practices and improve prescription benefit design for their employees.

The bottom line: Covered employees and other beneficiaries should be able to access their prescribed medications without delays, administrative barriers, interference with the physician/patient relationship or excessive financial burden. As long as there is sound clinical evidence supporting coverage, patients should have access to medications prescribed by their physicians.

Health plans and pharmacy benefit managers should publicly disclose, in a searchable electronic format, patient-specific utilization management requirements per ACA guidelines, including:

- → Pre-authorization
- \rightarrow Step therapy
- → Formulary restrictions
- → Process for formulary changes

- → Patient cost-sharing information, as applied to individual drugs and medical services
- → Restrictions and provisions around specialty pharmacy utilization and drugs
- → Measures to ensure rebates from manufacturers are passed on to patients

Such information should be accurate, current, and include an effective date in order to be relied upon by clinicians, patients and any prospective patients engaged in the enrollment process. Additionally, prescribing/ordering clinicians should receive clear information from health plans about what supporting documentation is needed to complete every pre-authorization and step therapy exception request, as well as appeals.³⁷

I. Formulary Design

Policies to Avoid

Don't use "closed" formularies that limit access and exclude drugs. If you're already working with a closed formulary, see our recommendations to improve its design.

Avoid value assessments based on the Quality-Adjusted Life Year (QALY), such as those conducted by the Institute for Clinical and Economic Research (ICER). Don't use these discriminatory metrics when designing a formulary or assigning drugs to tiers.

Prevent mid-year changes to formularies. Frequent changes to formularies create obstacles for patients and physicians, leading to non-compliance, adverse reactions, increased costs and erosion of patients' confidence. Changes to formularies should only be permitted at the start of a plan year with sufficient notice given to plan participants so they may use open enrollment periods to change to a plan with a more suitable formulary design. (This guideline is not meant to exclude newly FDA-approved drugs or indications.)⁹²

Don't implement absolute "exclude at launch" policies for newly approved drugs. These drugs may represent breakthrough treatments or changes in standards of care, particularly important for people with cancer and rare conditions for which there may be few options.

Don't limit or exclude coverage for drugs that have stabilized a patient's condition. This applies to a covered individual who: (a) is medically stable on a specific drug, as determined by the prescribing healthcare professional, and (b) has received coverage for that medication during the current plan year or a previous year.

Take care not to create cost-sharing arrangements that disproportionately impact certain patients, such as those with cancer, by placing all or most medications for their illness on the highest cost-sharing tier.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

Create an "open" formulary that allows all FDAapproved drugs to be covered when appropriate and medically necessary. Any formulary rules should be patient-centered, and incorporate evidence-based standards of care.

Focus on minimizing out-of-pocket costs for patients with chronic conditions to increase medication adherence and improve patient wellbeing. Consider offering a copay-only plan option for prescription medications.

Provide coverage for off-label use of drugs and biologics when supported by evidence and expert consensus. Examples of off-label use of cancer drugs appear in the NCCN Guidelines[®] and NCCN Drugs & Biologics Compendium[®].⁹³ Off-label use of drugs is much more common in cancer treatment than in the treatment of other conditions. An estimated 50% or more of cancer care is off label—i.e. the drug or biologic has FDA approval, but not for use in that specific manner.

Require expert reviewers for formulary exceptions and appeals. All plan or PBM decisions on exceptions or appeals must be made by a physician in the same or a similar general specialty as typically manages the medical condition or treatment under discussion. Too often these reviews are done by individuals who do not possess expertise in the clinical area.

Require rebates to be passed on to patients. Patients should benefit from negotiated discounts such as rebates. Employers should require that all rebates or at least a designated percentage of rebates be passed on to patients to decrease their out-of-pocket costs.

I. Formulary Design

Guidelines for making formulary changes:

- Notify affected subscribers and beneficiaries of any formulary changes from year-to-year prior to the start of any open enrollment period or, if no open enrollment period exists, at least three months before the start of the new plan year.
- Formulary changes notwithstanding, allow enrollees and their beneficiaries to continue with a previously approved drug until and unless a physician, in consultation with the patient, decides to change to another drug.

Recommendations for improving "closed" formularies:

- Base the drug selection and formulary tiers primarily on clinical outcomes, clinical comparability, safety, patient ease of use and bioequivalence, with the PBM's drug unit cost being a secondary consideration. Manufacturer rebates should not influence tier placement or preferred status.
- Only restrict access to those classes of drugs most frequently abused, in order to provide access to as many classes of therapeutic agents as possible.
- Ensure that medications to treat a specific disease state are not all placed in the highest tier.
- Place generics on the lowest cost-sharing tier. If a drug does not have a generic equivalent or biosimilar, the brand-name drug should be placed on the lowest tier.
- Ensure there is a transparent and timely process for prescribing and accessing drugs not included on the formulary. The process must use patient-centered, clinically based criteria, and allow plan participants, their beneficiaries or prescribing physicians to easily request an exception.
- Allow exceptions to formulary exclusions if they include any of the following justifications:
 - The treatment being requested is indicated based on genetic/genomic or other precision medicine tests for the individual's diagnosis and the genetic profile of their illness.
 - Treatments available on the formulary have been ineffective in the treatment of the patient's disease or condition.
 - The prescribing physician believes that delaying effective treatment would lead to severe or irreversible consequences and the treatments included on the formulary are likely to be ineffective given the patient's physical or mental condition.
 - The prescribing physician believes that formulary treatments have caused or are likely to cause an adverse reaction or other physical harm to the patient, based on clinical, peer-reviewed evidence or the patient's clinical history.
 - The prescribing physician believes that formulary treatments have prevented or are likely to prevent a patient from performing daily life activities or occupational responsibilities (see section 441.505 of title 42, Code of Federal Regulations or successor regulations).
 - The patient: (a) is stable on the prescription drug(s) selected by the prescribing clinician, and (b) has previously received approval of the drug(s) for their disease or condition by any group health plan or health insurance issuer.

Time limits for the exception process:

- **Non-emergencies** No later than 72 hours after receiving an initial exception request, the health plan must respond with either a determination of eligibility or a request for additional information (if strictly necessary to establish eligibility). After receiving additional information, the plan must respond with a decision no more than 72 hours later.
- **Emergencies** The plan has 24 hours to make a determination or request additional information. The plan must make a decision within 24 hours after the additional information is submitted.

II. Pre-authorization

Policies to Avoid

Pre-authorization should not be required for first-line therapies, generics, drugs approved 90% of the time, and drugs for which there are no alternatives to treat a certain disease.

Don't require new pre-authorizations for a patient who is stable on a particular drug. To ensure continuity of care, they should be exempt from any new pre-authorization requirements—such as when joining a plan or if the plan changes its formulary to require pre-authorization.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

Waive pre-authorizations for trusted clinicians. If a prescribing clinician orders a particular medication at least five times in a six-month period and at least 90% of their orders pass preauthorization review by any health plan, then the clinician should be exempt from needing pre-authorization for that medication for the next six months (or longer).

Set up clear time limits so pre-authorizations are decided swiftly. If the plan fails to meet deadlines, pre-authorization should be automatically approved.

Recommended timelines for pre-authorization review:

- **Non-emergency** No later than 72 hours after receiving a pre-authorization request, the health plan must respond with either a decision or a request for additional information. After receiving additional information, the plan must respond with a decision no more than 72 hours later.
- **Emergency** 24 hours. Emergency is defined as a reasonable medical probability that delay in the treatment could: (a) seriously jeopardize the patient's life or overall health, (b) affect the patient's ability to regain maximum function, or (c) subject patient to severe and intolerable pain or side effects.

III. Appeals Process

RECOMMENDATIONS:

Establish a clear, accessible and timely processes to appeal denials. Information on the documents required and the specific criteria used to determine eligibility should be available in plan documents and on the plan's website.

Limit the information plans can request for appeals to what is strictly necessary to establish eligibility and/or medical necessity.

Require expert reviewers for appeals. Reviews should be conducted by a physician in the same or a similar general specialty as typically manages the medical condition or treatment under discussion.

Time limits for the appeals process:

- **Non-emergencies** No later than 72 hours after receiving an initial appeal, the health plan must respond with either a determination of eligibility or a request for additional information (if strictly necessary to establish eligibility). After receiving additional information, the plan must respond with a decision no more than 72 hours later.
- **Emergencies** The plan has 24 hours to make a determination or request additional information. The plan must make a decision within 24 hours of the receipt of additional information.

IV. Step Therapy

Policies to Avoid

Don't include step therapy in your prescription coverage plans. Ideally, any step therapy protocols should be removed or excluded.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

To address pre-existing step therapy requirements until they can be removed, mirror the proposed federal "Safe Step Act" (summarized below) to protect employees from the unintended consequences of step therapy. In addition, any patient required to go through a step therapy protocol should only have to try one unsuccessful treatment before receiving coverage of the physician-recommended therapy.

Safe Step Act (S.464) Requirements:

- Plans must establish a clear and accessible process to request an exception, including what information is needed on the required documents and the specific criteria used to determine eligibility.
- Exceptions to medication step therapy protocol should be allowed if they include any of the following justifications:
 - A patient has already tried the medicine and it has failed before.
 - Delayed treatment will cause severe or irreversible consequences. The drug is reasonably expected to be ineffective, and a delay of effective treatment would lead to severe or irreversible consequences.
 - Required drug will cause harm to the patient. The treatment is contraindicated or has caused/is likely to cause an
 adverse reaction.
 - Required drug will prevent a patient from working or fulfilling Activities of Daily Life (ADLs): basic personal everyday
 activities such as eating, toileting, grooming, dressing, bathing, and transferring (42 CFR § 441.505).
 - The patient is stable on the prescription drug selected by his or her provider, and that drug has been covered by their previous or current insurance plan.
- Plans must limit the information they request to what is strictly necessary to establish eligibility for an exception.
- Exception decisions must be made by a physician in the same or a similar general specialty as typically manages the medical condition or treatment under discussion.
- Time limits for the exception process: 72 hours in all circumstances, and 24 hours if the patient's life is at risk.

V. Specialty Pharmacy Programs

Policies to Avoid

Don't charge higher copays and coinsurance if a plan member chooses an in-network pharmacy other than the one operated by the PBM.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

Allow plan members to choose the in-network pharmacy they want to use for their prescriptions.

Provide information on cost-assistance programs that can assist patients with the cost of prescription drugs.

Offer counseling to individuals who are prescribed oral oncology medications or selfinjectables to reduce the prescription abandonment rate.

VI. Cost Sharing

Policies to Avoid

Don't allow plans to use copay accumulators or maximizers. Instead, the plan and its PBM should count any coupons or financial assistance made by a third party toward an enrollee's coinsurance, copayment, deductible and out-of-pocket caps.

Oral anticancer drugs should not be subject to higher cost sharing. Instead, any cost sharing for prescribed, patient-administered anticancer medications should be no less favorable than the cost sharing for anticancer medications that are intravenously administered or injected by a healthcare provider, per the proposed federal Cancer Oral Parity Act of 2021.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

Keep any out-of-pocket costs affordable with limits of no more than \$100 per prescription fill and/or an aggregate cap of \$200 out of pocket per month.

Require that the differences in patients' cost sharing obligations between formulary tiers be minimal.

Have zero or minimal copays for prescriptions that treat chronic conditions to improve patients' health and increase medication adherence. If offering High Deductible Health Plans (HDHPs), ensure that the plan allows eligible medications for chronic conditions to be covered pre-deductible, consistent with IRS Notice 2019-45.

Offer employees the option of copay-only plans at every tier for prescription medications.

If step therapy requires use of a lower-cost medication that is unsuccessful, cost sharing for the higher-cost medication should be at the lower out-of-pocket cost.

Where available, biosimilars should be offered to patients at a lower out-of-pocket cost than the originator drug.

Provide employees with the option to "smooth" their out-of-pocket expenses early in the plan year when they are faced with an annual deductible. This allows employees to split large bills into smaller payments they can make over time.

Policies to Avoid

Do not offer High Deductible Health Plans (HDHPs) without pairing them with an account that allows enrollees to use tax-preferred funds to pay plan cost sharing and other out-of-pocket medical expenses. In 2020, the IRS defined HDHPs as any plan with at least a \$1,400 individual deductible or a \$2,800 family deductible.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

If offering a High Deductible Health Plan, ensure it is an HSA-qualified HDHP and pair it with a Health Savings Account (HSA).

When structuring a High Deductible Health Plan with a Health Savings Account, make use of the IRS's preventive care designation to provide pre-deductible coverage for eligible medications related to chronic illnesses. The IRS's expanded preventive care designation (IRS Notice 2019-45), which allows high-deductible health plans to cover some treatments for chronic conditions before enrollees meet their deductibles, includes such drugs as insulin to treat diabetes and statins used to treat heart disease.

View the full list at *https://www.irs.gov/newsroom/irs-expands-list-of-preventive-care-for-hsa-participants-to-include-certain-care-for-chronic-conditions*

Request for Proposal (RFP) Questions to Ask

This section outlines questions to ask in your RFP to determine whether a particular plan or PBM can meet the best practices described in this document. The best practices should be provided to your consultant as part of the scope of work and to include in final plan terms.

I. Formulary Design

Does your plan include an open formulary? (i.e. all FDA-approved drugs are covered and available to employees) [Yes/No]

- a) If no, how many drugs per therapeutic class are included in the formulary?
- b) If no, what is the specific process you use to determine which drugs to include or exclude from the formulary?
- c) Do you have a process for exceptions? [Describe the process, the timeline for consideration, the criteria for exceptions, the qualifications of the decision makers—do you require healthcare expertise in the relevant therapeutic area?]
- d) Are all FDA-approved generics and biosimilars available on the formulary?

2) How are formulary tiers set? [Describe the process and criteria]

- a) How are manufacturer rebates utilized in determining your formulary tiers?
- b) Are rebates passed on to patients? If so, what percentage?
- c) On what tier are generics placed?
- d) If no generic exists, where are brand-name drugs placed?
- e) Does the plan exclude newly approved FDA drugs for a period of time following approval?
- f) Do you utilize QALY-based value assessments by the Institute for Clinical and Economic Research (ICER) or other research organizations in determining formulary inclusion or tiers? If so, how are they used?

3) Are changes made to formularies during the plan year? [Yes/No]

- a) If so, what factors are considered before such changes are made?
- b) How much notice is provided to covered plan members?
- c) Is notice given to doctors of plan members who are taking the drugs affected by formulary changes?
- d) Are exceptions made for those plan members who are stable on a drug slated to be removed or moved to another tier?
 - i) If so, does that happen automatically or does the patient have to appeal a denial?
- 4) When do you publish your formulary for the following plan year?
- 5) How and when do you communicate changes to affected plan members and their physicians?
- 6) Do you allow plan members to continue on a previously approved drug until and unless a physician, in consultation with the patient, decides to change to another drug?
- 7) When making formulary changes, do you consider the total cost burden to the patient and physician, including unexpected adverse outcomes, staff time and resources, additional office visits, and laboratory monitoring? [Yes/No]

a) Describe your process and the factors considered in making formulary changes.

8) Does the formulary allow off-label use of drugs and biologics? [Yes/No]

(Note: Off-label use of drugs is much more common in cancer treatment than in the treatment of other conditions. An estimated 50% or more of cancer care is off label—i.e. the drug or biologic has FDA approval, but not for use in that specific manner.)

- a) If so, what are the requirements for such use to be covered?
- b) What is the process for considering off-label use, including the timeline for initial consideration and the timeline for appeals?

Request for Proposal (RFP) Questions to Ask

II. Pre-authorization

1) Do you require pre-authorization for:

- a) First-line therapies [Yes/No]
- b) Generics [Yes/No]
- c) Brand names where no generic version exists [Yes/No]
- d) Drugs for which pre-authorization is approved at least 90% of the time [Yes/No]
- e) Drugs for which there are no alternatives for a specific disease [Yes/No]
- f) Patients who are already stable on a drug, whether newly enrolled or existing plan members [Yes/No]
- 2) **Do you have a waiver program for trusted clinicians?** (That is, a clinician who orders a particular medication at least five times in a six-month period and at least 90% of the orders receive pre-authorization by any health plan, is then exempt from needing pre-authorization for that medication for the next six months.) [Yes/No]
- 3) Describe your process and timeline for making pre-authorization decisions.

III. Appeals

- 1) Do you have a clear, accessible and timely process to appeal denials? [Describe the process, the information required, and the specific criteria used to determine eligibility.]
- 2) Where is this information made available?
- 3) What is your timeline for reviewing appeals?
- 4) Describe the qualifications of the plan's employees or designees who make the determinations for preauthorization and appeals.

IV. Step Therapy

1) Does the plan include step therapy requirements? [Yes/No]

- a) If so, for which drugs and biologics is step therapy required?
- b) Do you have an exceptions process for step therapy consistent with the protections included in "The Safe Step Act"? [Yes/No]

i) Provide a detailed description of the process for requesting an exception, the criteria to qualify for an exception, the timeline for consideration and appeal, and the qualifications of those making the decisions.

c) How do you make the exceptions policy available to plan members and their physicians?

V. Specialty Pharmacy Programs

- Can the plan member choose the pharmacy they want to use for their prescriptions? [Yes/No]
 a) If so, are the copays and coinsurance the same regardless of the pharmacy they choose?
- 2) Does the specialty pharmacy program offer counseling to individuals who are prescribed oral oncology medications or self-injectables to reduce the prescription abandonment rate? [Yes/No]
- 3) Does the specialty pharmacy program provide access to information on programs that can assist patients with the cost of prescription drugs? [Yes/No]

VI. Cost Sharing

- 1) Does your plan offer deductibles and out-of-pocket caps (both monthly and annual) that are consistent with the recommendations in our RFP document? [Yes/No]
- 2) Do you have a process for "smoothing" out-of-pocket payments for plan participants whose prescription expenses exceed monthly out-of-pocket caps? [Yes/No]
 - a) If so, describe the process.
- 3) Do you offer a copay-only option in every tiered plan and at every tier? [Yes/No]
- 4) Do you have a list of specific chronic conditions with a set copay for medications that treat those conditions? [Yes/No]
 - a) If so, what conditions are on the list?
 - b) If so, what is the copay for medications that treat those conditions?
- 5) Does the plan count all copayments and coinsurance toward the deductible and out-of-pocket cap regardless of the source of the payment (coupon, copay assistance, etc.)? [Yes/No]
- 6) Do you have a process to ensure that cost sharing for prescribed, patient-administered anticancer medications is no higher than the cost sharing for anticancer medications intravenously administered or injected by a healthcare provider? [Yes/No]

VII. High Deductible Health Plans (HDHPs)

- 1) If you are offering an HDHP, is it an HSA-qualified HDHP? [Yes/No]
- 2) Is it paired with an HSA? [Yes/No]
- 3) Does the plan offer pre-deductible coverage for eligible medications related to chronic illnesses (consistent with IRS Notice 2019-45)? [Yes/No]

(Note: The IRS's expanded preventive care designation, which allows high deductible health plans to cover some treatments for chronic conditions before enrollees meet their deductibles, includes such drugs as insulin to treat diabetes and statins used to treat heart disease. View the full list at *https://www.irs.gov/newsroom/irs-expands-list-of-preventive-care-for-hsa-participants-to-include-certain-care-for-chronic-conditions*)

Glossary of Terms

Benefit design

Benefit design is the set of rules that structure a health insurance plan and determine how healthcare services can be accessed under coverage. This includes decisions about how individuals can gain access to services, providers, treatments and medications; which will be covered by the health plan; and what amount of cost sharing individuals will need to cover as out-of-pocket expenses through deductibles, copayments or coinsurance.

Biologic drug / biologic

Biologic drugs, or biologics, are derived from living organisms and produced in living cells (i.e. yeast, bacterial, human tissue or plasma cells). A piece of DNA is inserted into a living cell so it can instruct the cell to produce a specific molecule, such as a protein. Those molecules are then isolated to become the biologic drug's active ingredient. Contrast this with traditional medications, which are smaller molecules created from specific chemicals by using a synthesis process. Biologics help the body "manufacture" substances that boost the immune system's response and, in the case of some cancer treatments, target cancer cells.

Biosimilar drug / biosimilar

A biosimilar drug, or biosimilar, is a medicine that is very close in structure and function to a biologic drug (see definition). Biosimilars are developed using a comparable, but not identical, biologic agent and are marketed at a lower cost than brand-name biologics. According to the FDA, they are "a biological product that is highly similar to and has no clinically meaningful differences from an existing FDA-approved reference product."

Claim

A claim is a formal request for payment after services that an insured individual or their healthcare provider submits to the insurer. The insurer processes and reviews the claim for completeness, accuracy and coverage eligibility. If the claim is determined to be covered, the insurer pays their required portion. If the claim is denied, the patient is responsible for the cost and may choose to pay or file an appeal (i.e. request that the insurer reevaluate their decision and provide payment).

Closed formulary - see "Formulary"

Coinsurance

Coinsurance is a portion or percentage of a healthcare service cost that an insured individual is required to pay under their health plan. For example, if an individual's coinsurance for prescriptions is 20%, they pay 20% of a drug's cost and the insurance plan pays 80%, together covering 100% of costs. The higher the coinsurance rate, the higher an individual's out-of-pocket costs. An individual may be required to reach a deductible (a pre-set amount of out-of-pocket expenses) before the health plan covers their portion of coinsurance.

Copayment (also: copay)

A fixed amount (\$20, for example) a plan enrollee pays for a covered prescription or healthcare service after paying their initial deductible. The health plan pays the remainder of the cost for that prescription or service (e.g. \$100 prescription - \$20 copay by enrollee = \$80 paid by health plan). (See also "Deductible.")

Copay accumulator program

Copay accumulator programs exclude from an individual's out-ofpocket spending total any prescription copay costs covered by drug manufacturer coupons, non-profit organizations and other sources of outside support. Previously, the dollar amount covered by copay support was counted toward the individual's deductible and annual out-of-pocket spending maximum, helping them reach these totals sooner. There is no standard industry term for copay accumulator programs: other terms used by insurers include "coupon adjustment," "variable co-payment," "out-of-pocket maximum calculation process," "pharmacy coupon adjustment changes," "Out of Pocket Protection Program," "Benefit Plan Protection Program" or "Copay Card True Program Accumulation."

Similarly, a **copay maximizer program** does not count copayment financial assistance toward the patient's deductible and out-ofpocket maximum. The difference is that maximizer plans apply the value of the coupon or charitable support evenly throughout the benefit year, rather than using it up and then abruptly shifting all costs to the patient, as the accumulator does. A patient might still pay more overall than they did with copay support, but much less than they would under a copay accumulator.

Copay accumulator example: an individual has a copay of \$500 for a specialty drug and a deductible of \$1,000. Thanks to a coupon from the drug's manufacturer, the individual only pays \$25 to fill a prescription and the coupon covers the other \$475. Previously, the full \$500 copay would be credited to the individual's out-ofpocket spending and they would be \$500 away from reaching the deductible. Under a copay accumulator, only \$25 is counted toward the individual's out-of-pocket spending and they are still \$975 away from reaching the deductible; the health plan collects the \$475 covered by the coupon, but does not count that amount toward the individual's out-of-pocket spending.

Deductible

A deductible is the amount an insured individual pays each year for most eligible services or medications before the health plan begins to share in the cost of covered services. For example, if an individual has a \$2,000 yearly deductible, they'll need to pay the first \$2,000 of total eligible healthcare costs before the plan helps to pay. Deductibles for family coverage and individual health plan coverage are different. Some health plans include separate medical and prescription drug deductibles.

Financial non-adherence

Financial non-adherence is when patients do not follow their prescribed treatment plan due to the costs. Examples include a patient who doesn't fill a prescription, who delays or stops getting refills for a medication, or who alters the prescribed dosage to stretch a prescription due to high out-of-pocket costs. Higher rates of financial non-adherence are associated with restrictive drug benefits and other UM practices that increase out-of-pocket costs. Because financial non-adherence disrupts treatment, it can lead to worse health outcomes and higher expenses later when more intensive or emergency care is needed.

Financial toxicity

Financial toxicity is an umbrella term describing all the financial side effects of treating cancer, including direct costs (i.e. out-of-pocket expenses related to medical services and prescription drugs) and indirect costs (e.g. transportation to appointments, child care, new dietary needs and/or healthy groceries, potential job loss, etc.). Benefit design that increases cost-sharing for individuals, such as higher deductibles, higher copay or coinsurance rates, can worsen financial toxicity.

First-line therapy / **first-line treatment** (also: induction therapy, primary therapy, primary treatment)

A first-line therapy is the first treatment given for a disease. It is often part of a standard sequence of treatments, such as surgery followed by chemotherapy and radiation. When not used as part of a sequence, it is the treatment that is expected to provide the best results with the fewest number of side effects for most patients.

Formulary

The formulary is a list of drugs approved for coverage by a health plan. Insurers and PBMs arrange formulary drugs into tiers based on their price and clinical value; patients typically pay a higher copay or coinsurance rate to access drugs in higher tiers. Along with brand-name drugs, formulary tiers also incorporate generics and biosimilars—lower-cost drugs that provide the same benefits as their brand-name counterparts. In an "open formulary," the plan sponsor pays a portion of the cost for all drugs, whether or not they are included on the preferred list. In a "closed formulary," the health plan will only cover drugs listed on the formulary. Insurers and PBMs control which drugs are included and excluded from the formulary, a process often influenced by cash-back rebates from drug manufacturers (see "Rebates"). In very restricted formularies, they may approve just one option per drug class. Non-formulary drugs are not covered and enrollees must pay the full price to access them, unless approved through a formulary exception process (an appeal submitted by a patient and their prescribing clinician).

Generic drug / generic

A generic drug is a medication created to be the same as an existing approved brand-name drug in dosage form, safety, strength, route of administration, quality and performance characteristics, but marketed at a lower price. The Hatch-Waxman Act was written into law in 1984 to promote price competition through generic drugs once a brand-name drug's patent protection runs out. Generic medicines work the same as brand-name medicines; however, as with any drug, some patients may experience side effects or other issues with generics and better tolerate the brand-name version.

High Deductible Health Plan (HDHP)

Compared to standard health plans, enrollees in HDHPs must pay a higher deductible; in exchange, their monthly premiums are typically lower. For 2021-22, the IRS defines a HDHP as one having a deductible of at least \$1,400 for an individual or \$2,800 for a family. An HDHP's total annual out-of-pocket expenses for innetwork care (including deductibles, copayments and coinsurance) cannot exceed \$7,000 for an individual or \$14,000 for a family. While the lower premiums may be appealing, patients with serious illnesses and chronic conditions can be burdened with major out-ofpocket expenses before the plan covers any part of their healthcare costs. To buffer these expenses, HDHPs can be paired with a Health Savings Account (HSA). Enrollees and their employers can make pre-tax contributions to the HSA that can be spent on out-of-pocket healthcare costs. (See also "Deductible")

ICER

ICER is an acronym used for the Institute for Clinical and Economic Review, a private research organization; the same acronym is also used for the organization's value assessment framework, the Incremental Cost-Effectiveness Ratio. As an organization, ICER evaluates the clinical and economic value of prescription drugs, medical tests, devices and health system delivery innovations. ICER's value assessment framework is used to compare treatment options by calculating costs vs. health benefits. ICER typically uses a pre-set "cost-effectiveness threshold": for example, a cost-to-benefit calculation of no more than \$100,000 per year for a treatment. Some health plans and pharmaceutical benefit managers use these calculations to make coverage decisions. CancerCare and other leading medical organizations have criticized ICER's practices, citing its reliance on the discriminatory QALY standard (see definition), its "one-size-fits-all" frameworks, lack of transparency and failure to incorporate real-world perspectives from patients, caregivers and physicians.

Non-adherence - see "Financial non-adherence"

Non-medical switching

Non-medical switching is when changes are made to a patient's approved treatment for any reason other than side effects, efficacy or adherence. Non-medical switching can occur when an insurer eliminates coverage for a prescribed medication or adds policies that increase out-of-pocket expenses for a prescribed medication, pushing patients to switch to an alternate treatment preferred by the insurer. Non-medical switching may also occur when insurers offer pharmacists or patients a financial incentive to switch to a preferred drug.

Open formulary - see "Formulary"

Out-of-pocket costs / Out-of-pocket maximum

Out-of-pocket costs are a patient's expenses for services, treatments and prescriptions that aren't reimbursed by insurance. Out-ofpocket costs include deductibles, coinsurance and copayments for covered services, plus all healthcare costs that aren't covered. Some plans place a cap on how much a patient has to pay out of pocket each year. Once a patient reaches the out-of-pocket maximum, the insurer will pay 100% of all covered healthcare expenses for the rest of the plan year.

Payers

Payers is a broad term used in the healthcare industry to refer to any organization that pays for healthcare services and may also set service rates, collect payments and process claims. While payers typically refers to health plan insurers, Medicare, and Medicaid, it can also refer to self-insured employers who provide health plan coverage.

Glossary of Terms

Personalized medicine

Personalized medicine is healthcare informed by and tailored to a patient's unique genetics and circumstances. An individual's genetics and background can be used to guide decisions about testing, prevention, diagnosis and treatment. In cancer care, precision or targeted treatments use a cancer's genetic profile to match it with a specific drug for improved outcomes.

Pharmacy benefit managers (PBMs)

Pharmacy benefit managers (PBMs) manage prescription drug benefits on behalf of many health plans and self-insured employers. PBMs aim to control drug spending across several channels and through a variety of utilization management tools: 1) they create the list of drugs covered by a health plan and determine how much patients must pay to access preferred vs. non-preferred drugs (see "Formulary"); 2) they negotiate directly with drug manufacturers on pricing (see "Rebates"); and 3) they manage relationships with pharmacies to further coordinate patients' access to drugs and what they pay (see "Specialty pharmacy").

Pre-authorization (also: prior authorization, prior approval, precertification, PA)

Pre-authorization is a UM policy that requires certain services, treatments or prescriptions be submitted to the insurer for review and deemed medically necessary before a patient can receive that care. An insurer may deny coverage if pre-authorization is not properly secured; granting pre-authorization, however, does not guarantee an insurer will pay for treatment. Securing pre-authorization is often a time-consuming process for patients and healthcare providers alike and can lead to delays in treatment.

Premium

A premium is a set fee paid for health insurance every month. The premium is paid separately from other expenses a patient may have for healthcare services and prescriptions, such as deductibles, copayments and coinsurance. Employers often cover a portion of the premium and employees cover the rest.

Presenteeism

An employee is physically present in the workplace, but their productivity is reduced due to feeling unwell and/or disruptions, such as lengthy calls with their insurer to appeal a coverage denial. Employees who are caregivers for ill family members may experience presenteeism as well.

QALY

QALY stands for "Quality-Adjusted Life Year" and is an older economic tool used to quantify the value of a treatment by determining how its cost corresponds to the potential benefit. The QALY model assigns comparative values to different treatments based on how long it would prolong life and how much it would improve quality of life, essentially creating a formula of "quality of life x quantity of life." The QALY has drawn criticism and prohibitions under several federal statutes due to its narrow definition of "perfect health" that devalues and discriminates against people based on age, disabilities and chronic conditions, and fails to acknowledge diversity among patients and their different treatment needs and goals.

Rebate

Rebates are cash-back refunds paid to the pharmacy benefit manager (see definition) by the drug manufacturer after a drug is sold—this way, the PBM's final net price for the drug ends up being lower than the original list price. PBMs pass the rebates on to health plans; however, their contracts often allow them to keep a portion. High-volume rebates are a major source of revenue for many PBMs. PBMs negotiate rebates with drug manufacturers in exchange for a preferred lower-tier spot for a drug on their formulary, which offers wider use by patients.

Specialty pharmacy

Specialty pharmacies focus on medications for complex, chronic or rare medical conditions, including cancer. These drugs may require extra care to safely handle and dispense, or on-going patient monitoring. For cancer patients, specialty pharmacies can help coordinate the shipment of chemotherapeutics and the logistics of how they'll be administered. A health plan may require that insured individuals use a specific specialty pharmacy. Some specialty pharmacies are now controlled by insurers and pharmacy benefit managers (see definition), which has raised concerns about a conflict of interest when it comes to managing patients' out-ofpocket costs.

Step therapy

Step therapy, otherwise known as a "fail-first" protocol, requires patients to try one or more treatments from their health plan's formulary (i.e. list of approved drugs; see definition) and demonstrate it fails to improve their condition before the insurer will cover a doctor-prescribed course of treatment. Often, patients are first required to use treatments that come at a cost savings to the insurer before being approved for higher-cost prescriptions or, in some cases, prescriptions not included in the formulary.

Utilization management

Utilization management (UM) is an umbrella term for costcontainment techniques used to evaluate healthcare services and determine whether they are medically necessary and appropriate for patients—and ultimately, whether a health insurance provider should pay for them. UM sets the rules by which insurers restrict or deny coverage for care. At its best, UM helps to catch issues, weeds out unproven treatments, balances physicians' decisions and reduces costs while delivering quality care. At its worst, UM creates administrative snarls and costly out-of-pocket expenses for patients and can stand between patients and their physicians when setting the best personal course of treatment.



Works Cited

- Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. "National Health Expenditures 2019 Highlights." *CMS.gov*, U.S. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, 2019, www. cms.gov/files/document/highlights.pdf. Accessed 17 March 2021.
- American Cancer Society. "Cancer Facts and Figures 2021." American Cancer Society, 2021, www.cancer.org/content/dam/cancer-org/research/cancer-facts-and-statistics/ annual-cancer-facts-and-figures/2021/cancer-facts-and-figures-2021.pdf. Accessed 17 March 2021.
- Siegel, Rebecca L., et al. "Cancer Statistics, 2021." CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, vol. 71, no. 1, 2021, pp. 7-33. ACS Journals, doi.org/10.3322/caac.21654. Accessed 17 March 2021.
- Bretteville-Jensen, Anne L., et al. "Costs and Unintended Consequences of Drug Control Policies." *Council of Europe*, Pompidou Group, November 2017, rm.coe.int/ costs-and-unitended-consequences-of-drug-control-policies/16807701a9. Accessed 25 March 2021.
- Patt, Debra A. "Understanding Utilization Management Policy: How to Manage This Increasingly Complex Environment in Collaboration and With Better Data." *American Society of Clinical Oncology Educational Book*, vol. 38, 2018, pp. 135-138. ASCO Publications, doi.org/10.1200/EDBK_200891. Accessed 14 March 2021.
- Solomon, Rachel. "Utilization Management: What Patients Need to Know." Cancer Support Community, 3 December 2019, www.cancersupportcommunity.org/ blog/2019/12/utilization-management-what-patients-need-know. Accessed 14 March 2021.
- Royce, Trevor J., et al. "Impact of Pharmacy Benefit Managers on Oncology Practices and Patients." JCO Oncology Practice, vol. 16, no. 5, 2020, pp. 276-284. ASCO Publications, doi.org/10.1200/JOP.19.00606. Accessed 17 March 2021.
- Council on Medical Service. "Report of the Council of Medical Services: The Impact of Pharmacy Benefit Managers on Patients and Physicians (Report 5-A-19)." AMA, American Medical Association, 2019, www.ama-assn.org/system/files/2019-05/a19cms05.pdf. Accessed 28 March 2021.
- Shrank, William H., et al. "The Epidemiology of Prescriptions Abandoned at the Pharmacy." Annals of Internal Medicine, vol. 153, no. 10, 2010, pp. 633-40.
- Doshi, Jalpa A., et al. "Association of Patient Out-of-Pocket Costs With Prescription Abandonment and Delay in Fills of Novel Oral Anticancer Agents." *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, vol. 36, no. 5, 2017, pp. 476-482. ASCO Publications, doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2017.74.5091. Accessed 18 March 2021.
- Smith, Grace L., et al. "Financial Burdens of Cancer Treatment: A Systematic Review of Risk Factors and Outcomes." *Journal of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network*, October 2019, doi.org/10.6004/jnccn.2019.7305. Accessed 13 April 2021.
- Hansen, Lee Ann. "Impact of Nonadherence to Cancer Therapy." *Journal of Hema*tology Oncology Pharmacy, March 26, 2012, jhoponline.com/ton-online-first/3639ton-3639. Accessed 13 April 2021.
- Bouwman, Linda, et al. "Prevalence and associated factors of medication non-adherence in hematological-oncological patients in their home situation." *BMC Cancer*, vol. 17, no. 739, 2017. bmccancer.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12885-017-3735-1. Accessed 17 March 2021.
- Selby, Karen. "High Cost of Cancer Treatment." Asbestos.com, The Mesothelioma Center, 28 January 2021, www.asbestos.com/featured-stories/high-cost-of-cancertreatment/. Accessed 17 March 2021.
- Park, Yujin, et al. "The Effect of Formulary Restrictions on Patient and Payer Outcomes: A Systematic Literature Review." *Journal of Managed Care + Specialty Pharmacy*, vol. 23, no. 8, 2017, pp. 893-901. JMCP, doi.org/10.18553/jmcp.2017.23.8.893. Accessed 15 May 2021.
- 16. Pennsylvania Pharmacists Association. "The Unintended Consequences of Pennsylvania's Department of Public Welfare Six Prescription Drug Limit." *Pennsylvania Pharmacists Association*. cdn.ymaws.com/www.papharmacists.com/resource/resmgr/ whitepapers/medicaid6drugwhitepaper.pdf. Accessed 16 March 2021.

- Miller, Stephen. "Restrictive Formularies and Drug Exclusions: In Whose Interest?" Society for Human Resource Management, 20 November 2014, www.shrm.org/ resourcesandtools/hr-topics/benefits/pages/drug-formularies-exclusions.aspx. Accessed 15 May 2021.
- Blinder, Victoria S., and Francesca M. Gany. "Impact of Cancer on Employment." *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, vol. 38, no. 4, 2019. American Society of Clinical Oncology, doi.org/10.1200/JCO.19.01856. Accessed 25 March 2021.
- Mehnert, Anja. "Employment and work-related issues in cancer survivors." *Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology*, vol. 77, no. 2, 2011, pp. 109-130. *ScienceDirect*, doi.org/10.1016/j.critrevonc.2010.01.004. Accessed 17 April 2021.
- D'Ambrosio, Chris. "Which Health and Employee Benefits Attract Employees?" *ADP*, March 2020, www.adp.com/spark/articles/2020/03/which-health-and-employee-benefits-attract-employees.aspx. Accessed 16 April 2021.
- Goldstein, Ron. "The Four Advantages of Offering Health and Wellness Benefits to Employees." *Forbes*, 3 July 2018, www.forbes.com/sites/forbeslacouncil/2018/07/03/ the-four-advantages-of-offering-health-and-wellness-benefits-to-employees/?sh=25eb-5c76646a. Accessed 16 April 2021.
- Aflac. "Aflac Workforces Report: Employee Overview." Aflac, 2016, www.aflac.com/ docs/awr/pdf/2016-overview/2016.awr_employee_findings_ebook.pc.pdf. Accessed 17 April 2021.
- HealthCare.gov. "Preauthorization." *HealthCare.gov*, U.S. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, www.healthcare.gov/glossary/preauthorization/. Accessed 8 April 2021.
- 24. AHIP. "AHIP Survey: Prior Authorization Grounded in Clinical Evidence and Selectively Used." *AHIP*, 9 June 2020, www.ahip.org/ahip-survey-prior-authorization-grounded-in-clinical-evidence-and-selectively-used/. Accessed 8 April 2021.
- Loria, Keith. "The impact of prior authorizations." *Medical Economics Journal*, vol. 96, no. 5, 2019. *Medical Economics*, www.medicaleconomics.com/view/impact-prior-authorizations. Accessed 8 April 2021.
- American Medical Association. "2016 AMA Prior Authorization Physician Survey." North Carolina Medical Society, 2017, www.ncmedsoc.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Prior-auth-survey-FINAL.pdf. Accessed 19 July 2021.
- 27. American Hospital Association. "Addressing Commercial Health Plan Abuses to Ensure Fair Coverage for Patients and Providers." *American Hospital Association*, December 2020, www.aha.org/system/files/media/file/2020/12/addressing-commercial-health-plan-abuses-ensure-fair-coverage-patients-providers.pdf. Accessed 18 June 2021.
- Resneck Jr., Jack S. "Refocusing Medication Prior Authorization on Its Intended Purpose." JAMA, vol. 323, no. 8, 2020, pp. 703-704.
- Medicare Payment Advisory Commission. "Health Care Spending and the Medicare Program: A Data Book." *Medicare Payment Advisory Commission*, June 2019, www. medpac.gov/docs/default-source/data-book/jun19_databook_entirereport_sec.pdf. Accessed 18 June 2021.
- CoverMyMeds. "2020 Electronic Prior Authorization Report Executive Summary." *CoverMyMeds*, 2020, assets.ctfassets.net/2in405srp47m/4uzia8m4YQy3mBplpy-BuqF/9af9cefa63bba76566aa3e8595751e45/CMM_366664_ePAExecutiveSummary_Digital.pdf. Accessed 18 June 2021.
- CoverMyMeds. "2019 ePA National Adoption Scorecard." CoverMyMeds, 2019, marketingbuilder.covermymeds.com/insights/scorecard/. Accessed 19 June 2021.
- Shanafeit, Tait, and Lotte Dyrbye. "Oncologist Burnout: Causes, Consequences, and Responses." *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, vol. 30, no. 11, 2012, pp. 1235-1241. *ASCO Publications*, doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2011.39.7380. Accessed 8 April 2021.
- Carlisle, Ryan T., et al. "Administrative Burden and Costs of Prior Authorizations in a Dermatology Department." *JAMA Dermatology*, vol. 156, no. 10, 2020, pp. 1074-1078. *JAMA Network*, doi.org/10.1001/jamadermatol.2020.1852. Accessed 18 June 2021.

Works Cited

- Balkrishnan, Rajesh, et al. "Prior Authorization of Newer Insomnia Medications in Managed Care: Is It Cost Saving?" *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, vol. 3, no. 4, 2007, pp. 393–398. *National Center for Biotechnology Information*, www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1978307/. Accessed 18 June 2021.
- Turner, Ani, et al. "Impacts of Prior Authorization on Health Care Costs and Quality: A Review of the Evidence." *National Institute for Health Care Reform*, November 2019, www.nihcr.org/wp-content/uploads/Altarum-Prior-Authorization-Review-November-2019.pdf. Accessed 18 June 2021.
- 36. Bergeson, Joette Gdovin, et al. "Retrospective database analysis of the impact of prior authorization for type 2 diabetes medications on health care costs in a Medicare Advantage Prescription Drug Plan population." *Journal of Managed Care Pharmacy*, vol. 19, no. 5, 2013, pp. 374-384. *JMCP*, doi.org/10.18553/jmcp.2013.19.5.374. Accessed 18 June 2021.
- American Medical Association and supporting organizations. "Prior Authorization and Utilization Management Reform Principles." *American Medical Association*, June 2019, www.ama-assn.org/system/files/2019-06/principles-with-signatory-page-for-slsc.pdf.Accessed 15 May 2021.
- Academy of Managed Care Pharmacy. "Formulary Management." AMCP, November 2009, amcp.org/sites/default/files/2019-03/Formulary%20Management.pdf. Accessed 19 March 2021.
- Koziara, Katie. "Study Finds Middlemen Excluded Nearly 850 Medicines from Formularies This Year." *PhRMA*, 17 Sept 2020, catalyst.phrma.org/study-finds-middlemen-excluded-nearly-850-medicines-from-formularies-this-year. Accessed 19 March 2021.
- Baumgardner, James, et al. "Modeling the Impacts of Restrictive Formularies on Patients With HIV." *The American Journal of Managed Care*, vol. 24, no. 8, 2018, pp. SP322-328. AJMC, ajmc.s3.amazonaws.com/_media/_pdf/AJMC_07_2018_PharmacyBenefits_SpecialIssue_Baumgardner%20final.pdf. Accessed 18 June 2021.
- Rome, Benjamin N., et al. "Correlation Between Changes in Brand-Name Drug Prices and Patient Out-of-Pocket Costs." *JAMA Network Open*, vol. 4, no. 5, 2021. *JAMA Network*, doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.8816. Accessed 21 June 2021.
- Boudreaux, Todd. "Express Scripts Won't Cover Lilly's Generic Insulin." *Beyond Type 1*, 4 August, 2021, beyondtype1.org/express-scripts-wont-cover-generic-insulin/. Accessed 18 September 2021.
- Herman, Bob. "Generic drugs aren't always favored." Axios, 4 April 2019, www.axios. com/generic-brand-drug-prices-express-scripts-coverage-dc62b393-a086-4179-a48bbeb27e3a847b.html. Accessed 15 May 2021.
- 44. Schwartz, Karyn. "New Analysis: Midyear Formulary Changes in Marketplace Plans Can Significantly Reduce Access to Needed Medications for Patients." The Catalyst blog, *PhRMA*, 5 February 2015, catalyst.phrma.org/new-analysis-midyear-formulary-changes-in-marketplace-plans-can-significantly-reduce-access-to-needed-medications-for-patients. Accessed 10 March 2021.
- Silverman, Ed. "Advocacy groups outraged after a PBM offers a \$500 gift card to persuade patients to switch drugs." STAT, 19 April 2021, www.statnews.com/pharmalot/2021/04/19/pbm-cosentyx-gift-card/. Accessed 21 June 2021.
- Alliance for Patient Access. "Understanding Non-Medical Switching." *YouTube*, uploaded by Alliance for Patient Access, 9 February 2016, youtu.be/2I67kYOh_sk. Accessed 23 March 2021.
- Dolinar, Richard, et al. "The non-medical switching of prescription medications." *Postgraduate Medicine*, vol. 131, no. 5, 29 May 2019, PubMed.gov, National Center for Biotechnology Information, doi.org/10.1080/00325481.2019.1618195. Accessed 23 March 2021.
- National Health Council. "Value Assessment Terminology." National Health Council, March 2020, nationalhealthcouncil.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/ValueAssessment-terminology-final-March-2020.pdf. Accessed 24 March 2021.

CANCER*CAYe*

- Maas, Angela. "With QALY Use Rising, Manufacturers Can Use Value Assessments to Their Advantage." *MMIT*, 25 October 2018. Accessed 15 April 2021.
- Value Our Health. "Principles for Value Assessment." Value Our Health, 24 June 2019, secureservercdn.net/45.40.155.175/f2i.811.myftpupload.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Value-Our-Health-principles_06.24.19.pdf. Accessed 21 June 2021.
- Dubois, Robert W., and Kimberly Westrich. "As Value Assessment Frameworks Evolve, Are They Finally Ready for Prime Time?" *Value in Health Journal*, 30 July 2019, doi.org/10.1016/j.jval.2019.06.002. Accessed 25 March 2021.
- York Health Economics Consortium. "Quality-Adjusted Life Year (QALY)." York Health Economics Consortium, 2016, yhec.co.uk/glossary/quality-adjusted-life-year-qaly/. Accessed 23 March 2021.
- Popovian, Robert. "Stop Failing Patients." *Morning Consult*, 12 May 2021, morningconsult.com/opinions/stop-failing-patients/. Accessed 15 May 2021.
- 54. Burgy, Jessica and Mark G. Lebwohl. "To Limit The Harms Of Step Therapy, Implement Robust Standards and Protect Physician Autonomy." *Health Affairs*, 22 December 2020, www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hblog20201221.255119/full/. Accessed 18 March 2021.
- McCleery, John. "The Politics of Step Therapy." OBR Oncology, May 2019, obroncology.com/article/the-politics-of-step-therapy/. Accessed 18 March 2021.
- Chung, Adrienne, et al. "Does A 'One-Size-Fits-All' Formulary Policy Make Sense?" *Health Affairs*, 2 June 2016, www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/ hblog20160602.055116/full/. Accessed 18 March 2021.
- Zhang, Yuting, et al. "Effects of prior authorization on medication discontinuation among Medicaid beneficiaries with bipolar disorder." Psychiatric Services, vol. 60, no. 4, 2009, pp. 520-7, published online 13 January 2015. *Psychiatry Online*, doi. org/10.1176/ps.2009.60.4.520. Accessed 23 March 2021.
- Arquette, Sheila M. "The Evolving Role of Specialty Pharmacy." *HomeCare*, 10 September 2019, www.homecaremag.com/september-2019/evolving-role-specialty-pharmacy. Accessed 22 March 2021.
- Byrne, Michelle. "The Ins and Outs of Specialty Pharmacy." *Pharmacy Times*, 6 December 2018, www.pharmacytimes.com/view/the-ins-and-outs-of-specialty-pharmacy. Accessed 22 March 2021.
- Thomas, Katie, and Andrew Pollack. "Specialty Pharmacies Proliferate, Along With Questions." *The New York Times*, 15 July 2015, www.nytimes.com/2015/07/16/ business/specialty-pharmacies-proliferate-along-with-questions.html. Accessed 22 March 2021.
- Sukel, Kayt. "How Mergers Change Specialty Pharmacy." Managed Healthcare Executive, 3 May 2019, www.managedhealthcareexecutive.com/view/how-mergers-change-specialty-pharmacy. Accessed 23 March 2021.
- The AIDS Institute. "Double-Dipping: Insurance Companies Profit at Patients' Expense." *The AIDS Institute*, March 2021, aidsinstitute.net/documents/2021_TAI_ Double-Dipping_Final-031621.pdf. Accessed 24 March 2021.
- 63. Linehan, John S. "Copay Accumulators and Maximizers: Assessing the Legal and Practical Implications of Copay Accumulator and Maximizer Programs." *Managed Care Magazine*, vol. January/February, 2019. LSC Communications, lsc-pagepro. mydigitalpublication.com/publication/frame.php?i=565820&p=&ver=htm= l5&view=articleBrowser&article_id=3300095. Accessed 2 April 2021.
- Feldman, Madelaine A. "Co-pay Accumulator Adjustment Programs." *Institute for Patient Access*, June 2018, instituteforpatientaccess.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/ IfPA_Copay-Accumulator-Adjustment-Programs_June-2018.pdf. Accessed 2 April 2021.
- RxCrossroads by McKesson. "The impact of accumulators on co-pay programs." *McKesson*, 2019, lifesciencescontent.mckesson.com/rs/397-CHI-994/images/ RxC-AFF-WhitePaper-Accumulator-Impact.pdf. Accessed 2 April 2021.

- 66. American Society of Clinical Oncology. "American Society of Clinical Oncology Position Statement: Pharmacy Benefit Managers and Their Impact on Cancer Care." ASCO, American Society of Clinical Oncology, August 2018, www.asco.org/sites/ new-www.asco.org/files/content-files/advocacy-and-policy/ASCO-Position-Statement-PBMs-Aug.-2018.pdf. Accessed 18 March 2021.
- 67. Van Nuys, Karen, et al. "A Perspective on Prescription Drug Copayment Coupons." USC Schaeffer, Leonard D. Schaeffer Center for Health Policy & Economics, University of Southern California, 20 February 2018, healthpolicy.usc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/2018.02_Prescription20Copay20Coupons20White20Paper_Final-1. pdf. Accessed 2 April 2021.
- Viswanathan, Meera, et al. "Interventions to Improve Adherence to Self-administered Medications for Chronic Diseases in the United States: A System Review." *Annals of Internal Medicine*, vol. 157, no. 11, 2012, pp. 785-95. ACP Journals, doi. org/10.7326/0003-4819-157-11-201212040-00538. Accessed 2 April 2021.
- Seetasith, Arpamas, et al. "The impact of copay assistance on patient out-of-pocket costs and treatment rates with ALK inhibitors." *Journal of Medical Economics*, vol. 22, no. 5, 2019, pp. 414-420. *Taylor & Francis Online*, doi.org/10.1080/13696998.2019 .1580200. Accessed 2 April 2021.
- Fein, Adam J. "Copay Accumulators: Costly Consequences of a New Cost-Shifting Pharmacy Benefit." *Drug Channels*, 1 May 2018, www.drugchannels.net/2018/05/ copay-accumulators-costly-consequences.html. Accessed 2 April 2021.
- Fein, Adam J. "Why Do CVS And Express Scripts Rely on Secretive Private Companies to Run Their Copay Maximizer Programs?" *Drug Channels*, 21 May 2020, www. drugchannels.net/2020/05/why-do-cvs-and-express-scripts-rely-on.html. Accessed 2 April 2021.
- U.S. Government Accountability Office. "Private Health Insurance: Data on Applications and Coverage Denials." *GAO*, U.S. Government Accountability Office, 16 March 2011, www.gao.gov/products/gao-11-268. Accessed 24 March 2021.
- 73. Pollitz, Karen, and Daniel McDermott. "Claims Denials and Appeals in ACA Marketplace Plans." *KFF*, Kaiser Family Foundation, 20 January 2021, www.kff.org/ private-insurance/issue-brief/claims-denials-and-appeals-in-aca-marketplace-plans/. Accessed 21 March 2021.
- Bologna, Giacomo. "Insurance board won't intervene in Mississippi doctor's cancer treatment denial." *Mississippi Clarion Ledger*, 28 June 2019, www.clarionledger.com/ story/news/politics/2019/06/27/ummc-doctor-board-wont-intervene-proton-cancer-treatment-denial/1551658001/. Accessed 17 March 2021.
- 75. Weber, Lauren. "Patients Stuck With Bills After Insurers Don't Pay As Promised." *Kaiser Health News*, Kaiser Family Foundation, 7 February 2020, khn.org/news/prior-authorization-revoked-patients-stuck-with-bills-after-insurers-dont-pay-as-promised/. Accessed 8 April 2021.
- Advisory Board. "The State of Denials." Advisory Board, 2019, advisory-prod. azureedge.net/-/media/project/advisoryboard/shared/research/flc/success-page/2018/ the-state-of-denials.pdf. Accessed 21 March 2021.
- American Society of Clinical Oncology. "National Cancer Opinion Survey 2018 Key Findings." *Cancer.net*, American Society of Clinical Oncology, October 2018, www.cancer.net/sites/cancer.net/files/2018-ncos-infographic.pdf.pdf. Accessed 15 May 2021.
- Cancer Action Network. "The Costs of Cancer: Addressing Patient Costs." American Cancer Society Cancer Action Network, April 2017, www.fightcancer.org/sites/default/ files/Costs%200f%20Cancer%20-%20Final%20Web.pdf.
- Ramsey, Scott, et al. "Washington State Cancer Patients Found To Be At Greater Risk For Bankruptcy Than People Without A Cancer Diagnosis." *Health Affairs*, vol. 32, no. 6, 2013, pp. 1143–1152. Health Affairs, doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2012.1263. Accessed 27 March 2021.

- Roswell Park Comprehensive Cancer Center. "Cancer Patients Who Are Most Worried About Finances Shown to Have Worse Outcomes." *Newswise*, 9 March 2021, www.newswise.com/articles/cancer-patients-who-are-most-worried-about-financesshown-to-have-worse-outcomes. Accessed 15 May 2021.
- Mapes, Diane. "Cancer, bankruptcy and death: study finds a link." *Fred Hutch*, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center, 26 January 2016, www.fredhutch.org/en/ news/center-news/2016/01/cancer-bankruptcy-death-study-financial-toxicity.html. Accessed 15 May 2021.
- Cancer Care. "Cancer Care Patient Access and Engagement Report." Cancer Care, 2016, media.cancercare.org/accessengagementreport/FINAL-Cancer Care-CA-PER-10May2016-hsp.pdf. Accessed 20 August 2021.
- Kang, Hyojung, et al. "Cost-related medication non-adherence among U.S. adults with diabetes." *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, vol. September, no. 143, 2018, pp. 24-33. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2018.06.016. Accessed 15 May 2021.
- Morello, Candis M., and Jan D. Hirsch. "Strategies for Addressing the Cost of Nonadherence in Diabetes." *American Journal of Managed Care*, vol. 23, no. 13, 2017, pp. 247-252. *AJMC*, www.ajmc.com/view/strategies-for-addressing-cost-of-nonadherence-in-diabetes. Accessed 15 May 2021.
- Mason, Maddie. "Updated: Smoothing the Out of Pocket Cap." National Health Council, 22 October 2019, nationalhealthcouncil.org/blog/blog-updated-smoothingout-pocket-cap/. Accessed 1 September 2021.
- Patient Access Network Foundation. "Position: Spread out-of-pocket costs for treatment evenly through the year." *PAN Foundation*, www.panfoundation.org/our-work/ improving-access-and-affordability/smoothing/. Accessed 1 September 2021.
- Washington Health Benefit Exchange and Wakely Consulting. "Overview Wakely Feasibility Study: Model Standard Plan Designs in the Exchange Individual Market." Washington Health Benefit Exchange, September 2018.
- Massachusetts Health Connector. "Final Award of the 2020 Seal of Approval (VOTE)." 12 September 2019, *Massachusetts Health Connector*, www.mahealthconnector.org/wp-content/uploads/board_meetings/2019/09-12-19/2020-Seal-of-Approval-Final-Award-VOTE-091219.pdf. Accessed 2 September 2021.
- Hamel, Liz, et al. "Kaiser Family Foundation/LA Times Survey Of Adults With Employer-Sponsored Insurance." *KFF*, Kaiser Family Foundation, 2 May 2019, www.kff.org/private-insurance/report/kaiser-family-foundation-la-times-survey-of-adults-with-employer-sponsored-insurance/. Accessed 17 April 2021.
- KFF. "Employer Health Benefits 2020 Annual Survey." *KFF*, Kaiser Family Foundation, 8 October 2020, files.kff.org/attachment/Report-Employer-Health-Benefits-2020-Annual-Survey.pdf. Accessed 17 March 2021.
- American Society of Clinical Oncology. "American Society of Clinical Oncology Statement on the Impact of Utilization Management Policies for Cancer Drug Therapies." *Journal of Oncology Practice*, vol. 13, no. 11, 2017, pp. 758-762. ASCO Publications, American Society of Clinical Oncology, doi.org/10.1200/JOP.2017.024273. Accessed 17 March 2021.
- American Academy of Family Physicians. "Principles for the Development and Management of Patient-Centered Formularies." *AAFP*, 2020, www.aafp.org/about/ policies/all/patient-centered-formularies.html. Accessed 28 August 2021.
- National Comprehensive Cancer Network^{*}. "NCCN Drugs & Biologics Compendium^{*}." *National Comprehensive Cancer Network*^{*}, www.nccn.org/compendia-templates/compendia/drugs-and-biologics-compendia. Accessed 28 August 2021.



cancercare.org